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CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS



REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
MEDIOBANCA GROUP



REVIEW OF
GROUP OPERATIONS

The Mediobanca Group delivered a net profit of €807.6m in the twelve
months under review, representing a significant improvement on the €600.4m
posted last year. The Group’s ability to respond to the healthcare crisis and
the various lockdowns in response to the various waves of the pandemic, have
enabled it to bring results back in line, quarter by quarter, with the projections
included in the 2019-23 Strategic Plan.

These results have been made possible by the outstanding performance
by financial markets, a substantially accommodative monetary policy which
has driven up share and credit asset prices and also, at the same time,
driven a material reduction in the BTP-Bund spread (to approx. 110 bps),
coupled with an interest rate structure that remains at all-time low levels.
The decisive contribution made by the vaccination campaign has triggered an
acceleration in economic activity, with growth estimates for 2021 now 7.1%
for the United States, 4.6% for Europe, and 5.4% for ltaly. Meanwhile, stock
markets have been recording all-time highs, with the MSCI World Index, S&P
and Eurostoxx 600 all posting record performances during the period under
review. Uncertainty remains over issues such as the duration of the stimulus
packages introduced and the possible effects this might have on inflation,
which all the global economies expect to increase as from 2021.

For Mediobanca, higher fee and treasury income offset the slight reduction
in net interest income, which affected Consumer Banking in 1H in particular,
while Corporate and Investment Banking and Wealth Management, both of which
reported reductions in 2H FY 2019-20, bounced back strongly. In line with the
growth in revenues, the investment programme that was interrupted so brusquely
in spring 2020 also resumed, and is already back at the levels envisaged in the
Strategic Plan. Initiatives have included: strengthening the commercial network
for all business lines, by hiring new bankers/FAs and opening new branch
offices; bolstering the IT platform to facilitate remote access by staff and clients;
stepping up the marketing campaigns for Compass and CheBanca!, which have
driven increases in new business (new loans up 1.2% in Consumer Banking and
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up 2.1% in mortgage lending) and net new money (NNM up €3.8bn, €3.7bn of
which attributable to CheBanca!). Good asset quality, the increased appetite for
saving shown by households, coupled with the stimulus initiatives, all impacted
positively on the cost of risk which has returned now to 2019 levels. Net loan
loss provisions of €248.8m (30/6/20: €374.9m; 30/6/19: €222.6m) mostly
consist of overlays, plus the higher coverage levels for performing loans (1.36%)
which includes prudentially classifying certain exposures in Stage2 (up 12%),
offsetting the writebacks deriving from the positive conclusion of the moratoria
initiative, from certain corporate items returning to portfolio status, and the
IFRS9 models reacting to the improvement in the macroeconomic scenario. All
this took ROTE back to 8.7%, despite a growing capital base (net equity in the
twelve months increased from €9.7bn to €11.1bn).

Revenues grew by 4.6%, from €2,513m to €2,628.4m, on a growing
contribution from banking activity (up 6.7%) only in part offset by the reduction
in income from Assicurazioni Generali (down 9.9%). The main income items
performed as follows:

— Net interest income totalled €1,415m, showing good resilience (down 1.9%,
from €1,442.2m), and managing to offset almost entirely the correction
reported in Consumer Banking (down 7.3%, from €948m to €878.8m),
through growth by the other divisions and optimization of the cost of
funding. The reduction in Consumer Banking is due to the lower margins
(in part the result of the mix in terms of new business, which is geared more
towards special purpose rather than personal loans) and lower volumes (as
a result of the lockdowns), returning to last year’s levels only towards the
end of the financial year. By contrast, the other divisions performed well:
net interest income reported by Corporate and Investment Banking rose by
5.7% (from €271.4m to €286.9m), helped by certain non-recurring items,
plus the increase in volumes in factoring business and the trading book; NII
in Wealth Management rose by 3.7% (from €271m to €281.1m), driven by
higher volumes reported by CheBanca! (mortgages and deposits) and CMB
Monaco; the net interest expense reported by the Holding Functions division
decreased from €55m to €47.4m, offsetting the reduced contribution from
the banking book through increased recourse to the T-LTRO facilities,
which enabled the cost of funding to stabilize;

— Net fee and commission income rose by 18.2% to a record high of €744.7m
(30/6/20: €630.2m), driven by impressive increases in Corporate and
Investment Banking (up 40.9%, from €225.8m to €318.1m) and Wealth
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Management (up 9.7%, from €306.1m to €335.9m); in detail, investment
banking fees reached the highest levels seen in the past five years, on
outstanding performances in Equity Capital Market (€42m) and Corporate
Finance (€127.5m), helped by some large deals in the first half of the year
and over 50% growth in the Mid-Corporate component (to approx. €20m);
the increase in Wealth Management reflects higher management fees from
the Affluent segment (up 25.9%, from €134.6. to €169.5m) and Private
Banking (up 11.1%, from €123.9m to €137.7m), on the back of the increase
in AUM/AUA and higher profitability;

— Net treasury income increased to €197m, coming back strongly from last
year’s performance (€136.3m) and basically aligned with pre-Covid levels,
following a good performance by the proprietary trading book, which
delivered €94.9m (€57.5m of which attributable to the Holding Functions
division), plus income from Principal Investing (dividends and other amounts
collected in respect of holdings in funds totalling €31m), which offset the
slowdown in client activity (which decreased from €85.6m to €60.6m), hit
by the excess liquidity on the market which restricted opportunities, in
fixed-income trading in particular;

— The equity-accounted companies’ profit decreased, from €304.3m to
€271.7m, due to the reduced contribution from Assicurazioni Generali
(from €303.4m to €273.4m); the writedowns and one-off charges taken by
the company in 2020 have been part offset by the healthy performance
posted in 1Q FY 2021, which contributed €103.2m.

Operating costs tose by 4% (from €1,188.9m to €1,238.2m), due to
an increase in labour costs of 6% (from €599.3m to €635.3m), due to the
resumption of commercial development, plus the increase in remuneration to
align it with the Group’s results. The increase in administrative expenses was
more limited, at 2.2% (up from €589.6m to €602.8m), as a result of savings
in travel and entertainment expenses which offset part of the resumption in
commercial activity (at CheBanca!, CMB Monaco and Compass in particular),
plus the relaunch of the IT investments programme, in line with the long-term
objectives; the cost/income ratio remained stable at 47%.

Loan loss provisions decreased from €374.9m to €248.8m, despite an increase
in the level of provisioning and reclassifications (to Stage2 and Stage3) made on
prudential grounds, in line with the ECB recommendations of end-2020. In
particular, the overlays have been increased to approx. €300m (€85m of which in
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4()), which prudentially neutralize the writebacks from the IFRS9 model deriving
from the improvement in the macroeconomic scenario seen in the last six months.
Some two-thirds of the overlays are concentrated in Consumer Banking (€200m),
30% in the Large Corporate segment (€90m), and the other 5% in the other divisions.
The Group’s cost of risk stands at 52 bps, back to 2019 levels after the high recorded
this time last year (82 bps), while asset quality and the coverage ratios were at their
best levels ever. Consumer Banking reflects adjustments of €257.6m (vs €324.7m
last year), which translates to a cost of risk of 198 bps (247 bps in 2020 and 185
bps in 2019), with coverage ratios which, in part due to the overlays, are near their
all-time highs (NPLs: 75.8%; performing: 3.62%). CIB posted net writebacks of
€40.1m, representing the difference between €38.1m in net writedowns in Specialty
Finance and writebacks of €78.2m in the Large Corporate segment.

Net provisions for financial assets (€48.4m) reflect upward adjustments for
funds (€55.5m), in particular relating to the two main seed investments (RAM up
€31.1m, Cairn Capital up €16.5m), comfortably recovering the losses reported
last year (€11.7m); this item also reflects writedowns of €7.1m to the banking
book securities, due to prudent application of the IFRS9 model.

Contributions to the resolution funds rose from €59.7m to €73.5m, due to
higher payments made to the various rescue schemes: Single Resolution Fund
(up from €37.2m to €42.4m); the contribution to the national resolution system
(€13.1m, vs €11.1m), and the ltalian deposit guarantee scheme (DGS) (which
increased from €11.4m to €17.9m, reflecting the pro rata contribution in respect
of Carige and Banca Popolare di Bari).

Net profit also reflects non-recurring items totalling €12.2m. These include
downward adjustments to goodwill (€21.5m, principally for RAM) and provisions
in Consumer Banking following the “Lexitor” ruling (€15m), which were offset
by income deriving from adhering to the “Patent Box™ for the Compass and
Mediobanca brands (€13.7m) and tax relief on intangible assets pursuant to

Article 110 of Ttalian Decree Law 104/20 (€6.8m).

koockosk

Total assets grew from €78.9bn to €82.6bn, with constituents increasing.
The main asset items reflect the following performances:

— Loans and advances to customers rose by 3.7%, from €46.7bn to €48.4bn, in
a scenario made more competitive by the liquidity injected into the system
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and the reduced demand from households and companies. against this
backdrop CheBanca! mortgages grew by 8.1% (from €10.2bn to €11.1bn),
as did Specialty Finance loans (from €2.1bn to €2.7bn), while loans in
Consumer Banking remained stable at €12.9bn (€13bn, after recovering the
gap that had opened up in 2(Q) and 3Q) in the fourth quarter), as did those to
Large Corporates (at €16.5bn, compared with €16.6bn, despite the higher
early repayments);

The increase in funding, from €54.9bn to €56.2bn, is concentrated in
retail deposits (up from €15.3bn to €16.9bn) and the increased recourse
to the T-LTRO (from €5.7bn to €7.5bn), while the debt security component
declined from €18.8bn to €18.4bn; thus the cost of funding remained stable
at 80 bps, absorbing the reduction in the Euribor benchmark rate due to
the increase in the Wealth Management deposit component (which now
accounts for 45% of the total), plus the increased benefit deriving from use

of the T-LTRO facilities (100 bps premium until end-June 2022);

Banking book securities remained at around €7bn, roughly half of which in
ltalian government securities, with a relatively short duration (under three
and a half years); the OCI reserve rose to €73m (despite gains of €44m
being realized), while unrealized gains on investment securities amounted
to €94m;

Net treasury assets increased from €6.1bn to €6.4bn and include €1.8bn in
deposits held with the ECB (€3.1bn) and other liquid assets worth approx.
€3.4bn, with an increased use of deposits and repos. The net balance of
trading instruments (€1.2bn) includes equities (€2.3bn) and debt instruments
(€939.4m), which mostly cover the certificates placed with clients (€1.9bn).

Total Financial Assets in Wealth Management (TFAs) grew by more than

€7.9bn (from €63.6bn to €71.5bn), helped by the trend on financial markets,
which increased the stock of assets (by €4.1bn), and also generated Net New
Money (NNM) of €3.8bn, €2.1bn of which in the Affluent segment and €1.4bn
in Private Banking. Assets under administration and management (AUA/
AUM) rose by 16.3% (from €39.8bn to €46.3bn, and represent 65% of the
TFAs, on growth in deposits of 5.9% (from €23.8bn to €25.2bn) concentrated in

CheBancal!. The asset allocation repositioning favoured yields, helping increase

the portfolio’s average profitability, which increased from 84 to 87 bps.
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The Group’s capital solidity remains at high levels, with a CET1 ratio phase-
in of 16.31%, after deducting the expected dividend for 2021 and factoring
in the recent changes introduced by CRR II. Regulatory capital increased
because of the share of retained earnings, which added 50 bps (net of the cash
payout at 70%), the lower deductions to goodwill (adding 15 bps, regarding
the adjustments to goodwill for RAM and Messier et Associés), and the higher
valuation reserves for proprietary securities (adding 20 bps). Conversely, the
deduction for the Assicurazioni Generali investment was higher (minus 70 bps),
to comply with the stricter concentration limit now calculated based on CET1

(as required by Article 395 of CRR 1I).

RWAs decreased from €48bn to €47.2bn (adding 30 bps to the CET] ratio),
chiefly due to the reduction for Assicurazioni Generali (down €1.2bn, adding
40 bps); organic growth (which added €900m) and the increase due to the
regulatory changes for counterparty risk and the treatment of CIU funds (which
together totalled €300m) were partly offset by certain optimization initiatives
(amounting to €710m), in particular the application of the financial duration
method to calculate the market requirement for interest rate risk (€490m), and
application of the exemption from having to calculate the CVA for exposures to
corporate counterparties (€220m).

In view of the most recent ECB recommendation (Recommendation
31/2021), the Board of Directors will submit to the approval of shareholders
at the next Annual General Meeting a proposal to pay a dividend per share of
€0.66, with a payout ratio of 70%, in line with the guidance for the financial
year. Furthermore, in order to help reduce the Group’s substantial capital
position, shareholders will also be asked to approve a new buyback scheme
involving up to 3% of the share capital, subject to cancelling the majority of
the treasury shares already owned (totalling 24.9 million, or 2.8% of the share
capital). Both proposals are subject to approval by the ECB. In line with the
2019-23 Strategic Plan objectives, capital will be deployed primarily in order
to strengthen the Group’s profitability in all the banking businesses in which it
operates, in particular Wealth Management.
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The ratio fully loaded without application of the Danish Compromise, i.e.
with the Assicurazioni Generali investment deducted in full (minus 110 bps)
and with the IFRS9 FTA effect applied in full (minus 13 bps), is 15.08%, higher
than last year (14.50%). The total capital ratio also increased in the twelve
months, from 18.82% to 18.91% (17.94% fully loaded) due to the €250m
subordinated bond issued in November 2020.

The divisional performances for the year were as follows:

—  Wealth Management: this division delivered a net profit of €100m
(an increase of 24.6% versus last year), driving ROAC up to 21%.
Diversification of the asset management product offering addressed to
Affluent and Private Banking clients helped drive a 7.5% increase in
revenues, from €583.8m to €627.3m, with a strong contribution from fee
income which closed up 9.7% (from €306.1m to €335.9m). The cost/income
ratio for the division decreased to 75.2%. The Affluent segment in particular
contributed a net profit of €48.7m (up 52.7% on last year), on revenues of
€358m (up 12.8%) and a cost/income ratio of slightly below 75%; while
Private Banking returned a €49.6m net profit (up 16%), on revenues of
€202.1m (up 8.2%) and a cost/income ratio of 68%. Asset Management,
meanwhile, reported a net profit of €2.4m, with revenues down 17.7% to
€59m, reflecting various outflows from institutional mandates;

—  Consumer Banking: Consumer Banking delivered a net profit of €278.9m,
down 6% on last year but still better than was initially expected. Revenues
remained just over the €1bn mark (down 6.4%, to €1,001.8m), nudging
the cost/income ratio up to 31.4%, in part due to the higher costs (which
rose from €303.2m to €314.2m) mostly in connection with credit recovery
expenses and higher IT costs. Net profit was helped by lower loan loss
provisions of €257.6m (compared with €324.7m last year), taking the cost
of risk back to pre-Covid levels (198 bps) despite the increased levels of
provisioning and the overlays;

— Corporate and Investment Banking: the 57.4% improvement in net profit,
which climbed from €180.7m to €284.5m, reflects an excellent performance
at top-line level (revenues rose 21.4%, from €575.1m to €698.2m), driven
in particular by fee income generated from Wholesale Banking operations
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(which climbed from €191.2m to €270m); the cost/income ratio decreased
to 43.9%, absorbing the higher bonus pool payable this year (labour costs
up 17.3%, to €165.4m); and ROAC reached its Strategic Plan target of 16%
two years ahead of schedule. The division’s results reflect an outstanding
performance by Wholesale Banking (net profit up 72.7%, to €268.2m),
which offset the reduction by Specialty Finance (from €25.4m to €16.3m)
due to higher provisioning for MBCredit Solutions;

Principal Investing: Principal Investing delivered a net profit of €308.6m,
recovering from last year (up 4.6%), helped by the fair value recognition of
holdings in funds (adding €51.8m), which offset the reduced contribution
from Assicurazioni Generali already alluded to;

Holding Functions: careful management of both liquid assets and the
securities portfolio enabled this division to reduce its net loss from €183.7m
to €166.1m, despite the increase in payments to the various resolution funds
(which rose from €59.7m to €73.5m); in the twelve months, the gain on the
banking book securities portfolio increased from €37m to €58m, while net
interest expense on treasury operations declined from €92.1m to €83.3m,
and operating costs decreased from €172.8m to €160.1m.

Significant events that took place during the twelve months under review

were as follows:

SREP and MREL requirements confirmed:' this, in view of the Group’s
strengthening capital solidity, has driven a further increase in the capital
buffers; the SREP Overall Capital Requirement (“OCR”) was confirmed
at 11.75%, which, in view of the regulatory changes introduced, translates
to a minimum CET1 requirement on a consolidated basis of 7.94%;
(roughly half the current ratio); while the Group’s MREL requirement? is
21.85% of RWAs® and 5.91% of the Leverage Ratio Exposures (LREs);
taking the eligible bond issues into account, the Group’s capital buffer
is in the €9.5bn region;

! In view of the current crisis scenario, and in line with the statement issued by the European Banking Authority (EBA) on 22 April 2020 (“EBA
statement on additional supervisory measures in the Covid-19 pandemic”), the ECB has adopted a simplified SREP cycle for 2020, confirming
the prudential capital requirements set in the 2019 SREP.

2 Early in 2021, the Bank of Ttaly, at the proposal of the Single Resolution Board (“SRB”), revised the Group’s MREL requirement, i.e. the amount
of own funds and eligible liabilities that can be converted to equity through the bail-in mechanism.

3 The requirement includes the combined buffer requirement (CBR) applicable at that date.

18 | Consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2021



— The merger of Futuro into Compass Banca, effective in legal terms as
from 1 November 2020 and in accounting terms from 1 July 2020;

— The ruling by the Court of Milan to uphold the case brought against
Compass Banca and Futuro by an Italian consumers’ association,
extending the effects of the Lexitor ruling (on repayment of upfront costs
and not just recurring ones) to include all early repayments made by
clients before the Bank of Italy’s letter to the market on 5 December
2019, ordering the companies to inform their clients of their right to a
refund in a timely manner. In pursuance of this ruling, Compass sent
a written notice to all of its customers that had accrued the right to
receive such refund, and published a separate notice on its own website
and in four daily Italian newspapers. The contingent liability arising as
a result of this ruling has been estimated at €15m, which amount was
set aside to the provision for risks and charges at 31 December 2020;
in the six months since then, requests for refunds have remained below
€3.5m. On 25 July 2021, Italian Law 106/21 came into force, converting
Italian Decree Law 73/21 which provided for amendments to the wording
of Article 125-sexies of the Italian Banking Act, and clarified that the
effects of the Lexitor ruling apply only to contracts signed before the
said law came into force. Accordingly, Compass has written back the
€15m provision used as to just €3.5m;

— The Burgo Group debt restructuring plan under Article 67 of the Italian
Bankruptcy Law has been completed, with the entry of a new institutional
investor (the QuattroR fund) and the refinancing of the entire existing
debt, senior and convertible. In view of this, the new position has been
given assigned performing status, resulting in the writeback of much
of the provision previously set aside to cover the previous exposure
classified as UTP, releasing approx. €1 10m to the profit and loss account.
At the same time, the equity instrument (SFP) received in 2015 for a
nominal amount of €130m which was written off entirely, has now been
recognized at a fair value of €55m (42% of its nominal value);*

— An agreement has been signed with the Italian revenue authority for
profits deriving from use of the Mediobanca and Compass Banca to be
eligible for tax relief (under the so-called “Patent Box” regulations®);

' Given the nature of this instrument and its classification as equity, the effects of the fair valuation impact only on net equity and are not passed
through to profit and loss.

? The profit and loss impact of the Patent Box regulation is a non recurring one-off item.
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this initiative, which was launched in May 2016, has enabled the current
taxation for FY 2020-21 to be reduced by €13.7m in respect of the 2015-
20 five-year period (the maximum period allowed by the regulations);

— Realignment of tax and accounting values for the former Banca Esperia
brand and goodwill plus two properties, pursuant to Article 110 of
Italian Decree Law 104/20, resulting in €6.8m being taken through
profit and loss, representing the balance of the provision set aside for the
withholding tax to be paid (€4.7m) and the calculation of the tax benefit
expected in the coming years (deferred tax of €11.5m);

— The carrying value of Messier et Associés - Groupe Mediobanca has been
decreased for €41m (from €134.2m to €93.3m), for taking into account
the lower expected profitability after the exit of one of the founding
partners, which is anyway offset by the gain arising from the clawback
clauses activation and by the 16.7% equity stake purchase at a symbolic
price of €1. On 23" April the entry of Hubert Preschez was announced
as new partner who joined the company last July.

The Group has always placed great importance on the environmental,
social and governance (ESG) issues, which are seen as crucial to its long-
term performance. Central banks are now recommending assessment of risks
relating to climate change that could impact on both economic growth and
the stability of the financial system as a whole. The European Commission
has adopted an ambitious package of measures to encourage the flow of
capital towards sustainable activities throughout the European Union. The
Mediobanca Group has concentrated its efforts even more intensively in
recent years, and has launched an entire programme activities in relation
to ESG risk integration, disclosure, financial sustainability of products, and
adaptation to the EU Taxonomy. In line with this roadmap undertaken, a new
Group ESG Policy has been approved which incorporates detailed sector
guidelines. Mediobanca’s recent adhesion to the Principles for Responsible
Banking, promoted by the United Nations and serving to direct the banking
sector towards the Sustainable Development Goals, complements its
adherence to the Global Compact and Principles for Responsible Investment,®
representing further confirmation of the Group’s commitment to generating

¢ The Principles for Responsible Banking have been signed by Mediobanca SGR, Cairn Capital and RAM Active Investments.
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change at a global level. The Bank’s commitment to the environment, in
particular, has also been realized through the Group becoming carbon
neutral by offsetting its direct CO, emissions (Scope 1 and 2).

The focus on inclusion is also shown in the support the Group has
expressed to the community and local area in which it operates. In
accordance with the roadmap, the Group has supported new initiatives to
address the social and economic emergency exacerbated by the ongoing
pandemic situation. These include in particular the donations made to
Fondazione Mission Bambini to support the right to education by providing
computer equipment and refurbishing two school buildings; to the Opera
San Francesco per i Poveri and Pane Quotidiano, two charities committed to
ensuring that food reaches the members of society most in need in Milan free
of charge each day. The Group has also renewed its three-year partnership
with the Academy of Woodworking run by Fondazione Cometa, which offers
employment opportunities to young people in difficult social, economic and
personal situations.

The results of the 2021 EU-Wide Stress Test run by the European Banking
Authority (EBA) were published on 30 July 2021. This was the first time the
Group has taken part in the process, and the results achieved were impressive:
Mediobanca proved to be the most solid Italian bank in the adverse scenario,
with a minimum CET1 ratio for the 2021-23 three-year period of 11.49% on a
phased-in basis (9.73% fully loaded).

Developments on capital markets

The financial year under review has seen what may be described as an
extraordinary performance under the circumstances, driven by huge economic
policy measures and the positive effects of the Covid-19 vaccination being
rolled out on a global scale.

The crisis situation started to normalize in the second half of 2020, and

confidence has increased regarding the possibility of controlling the pandemic,
despite a further spike in the number of cases between 3Q and 4Q, due to
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substantial fiscal policy intervention by the governments of the leading industrial
nations in order to restore stability and kick-start growth. As at end-December
2020, these measures were equivalent to 19.2% of GDP for the United States, 6%
for China, 10.6% for the European Union, and 44% for Japan. As first the fiscal
and monetary policy measures, then the vaccination campaigns progressed, the
global economy gradually became more robust, a process which accelerated in
the first six months of 2021.

In 2H 2020 the average GDP growth rates reported were 4.8% in the United
States, 2.9% in China, 5.9% in the Eurozone, and 4.1% in Japan. In 1H 2021,
by contrast, there was a significant slowdown in growth due to the fiscal stimulus
measures ending, resulting in a return to more normal growth rates, with average
GDP changes of 1.6% estimated for the United States, 0.8% for China, 0.9% for
the European Union, and a 0.3% reduction for Japan.

The recovery in terms of economic activity has caused raw material prices to
rise, with US oil prices up 87%, copper up 58%, and the industrial raw materials
index posting a 45% rise.

As from 1Q 2021, the combined effect of the increase in the price of raw
materials, the costs associated with the emergence of bottlenecks in various
production processes, plus the fall in prices recorded the previous year, generated
increases in inflation in many geographies, due specifically to certain items in
the relevant basket. From end-December 2020 to end-June 2021, inflation in
the Eurozone rose from -0.3% year-on-year to 1.9%, while in the United States
it climbed from 1.4% YoY to 5.4%. There seems to be a widespread conviction
among central bankers that inflation is destined to reduce again in due course,
but developments are under the closest scrutiny, to avoid having to introduce
stricter financial conditions in order to prevent inflation from spiralling out of
control.

Against this backdrop, share prices have continued their strongly upward
trend which started in 2Q) 2020 (in the 12 months to June 2021: S&P500 up
38.6%, MSCI World Index up 37%, Eurostoxx 600 up 25.7%, MSCI Asia
Pacific up 31.7%, Nikkei up 29.2%), while credit spreads returned to the
low levels they were recording before the outbreak of the pandemic (iTraxx
Europe fell from 67 bps to 46 bps, US high-grade CDS from 76 bps to 48
bps), while the absolute interest rate level has increased only moderately
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(from 0.66% to 1.47% for ten-year Treasury paper, for ten-year Bund from
-0.45% to -0.21%).

Turning now to the European economy, in the course of 2H 2020 the economic
cycle lost some of the momentum provided by the injection of economic policy
measures during 2(), and a major disparity opened up between the manufacturing
and the services sectors. The expansion recorded in services started to weaken
in the sector confidence indicators starting from July 2020, before recording
contractions in the period from September 2020 to March 2021 following the
renewed spike in cases of Covid-19 reported after the summer period (the Euro
Area service sector confidence indicator declined from 54.7 in July to 48 in
September 2020). Only the rollout of the vaccination campaign enabled the
indicator to start rising again, in 2Q 2021 (58.3 in June 2021). By contrast,
the confidence indicator for the manufacturing sector, which is less sensitive
to pandemic-related flows, was more stable and at all times reflected economic
growth. As the service sector’s counterparty, it too showed acceleration when the
economy opened up and as the vaccination campaign progressed (rising from

51.8 in July 2020 to 63.4 in June 2021).

Growth in GDP reflected a trend not dissimilar to that reported by the
services sector, with average growth in 2H 2020 of 5.9% QoQ), impacted strongly

by the high growth reported in 3Q, and of 0.9% QoQ in 1H 2021.

These results have been underpinned by government-funded financial
commitments, estimated from the start of the crisis to July 2021 to be equivalent
to 10.5% of 2020 GDP for the Euro Area, 41.4% for Germany, 24.8% for
France, 46.2% for Italy, and 22% for Spain. The impact on the level of public
borrowing has obviously been material. For year-end 2020 Eurostat indicates
levels of government debt equal to 97.8% of GDP for the Euro Area (100.5% in
1Q 2021), 69.7% for Germany (71.1%), 115.1% for France (118%), 155.8% for
Italy (160%), and 119.9% for Spain (125.2%).

To support the national fiscal policy initiatives implemented in the last six
months of 2020, the EU governance innovation process launched shortly before
the crisis was realized. The principle of common financing being provided
conditional upon the beneficiary country implementing economic reforms has
been replaced by that of financial subsidiarity between countries. The most
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innovative aspect introduced is the Next Generation EU, which consists of
€360bn in subsidized loans and €390bn in grants to finance national public
intervention which is proportionate to the pandemic’s economic impact on the
various Member States. For the first time wide-ranging fiscal transfers from EU
entities to individual countries have been permitted without being conditional
upon external factors, but rather on timely execution of the respective Recovery
and Resilience Plans (RRP) presented by each national government and
approved by the European Commission. To finance the Recovery and Resilience
Facilities, a debt issuance programme has been approved, which will be
guaranteed jointly by each of the EU Member States.

The ECB too, in pursuing its own policy objective, has provided further
impetus for economic activity, by increasing the Pandemic Emergency Purchase
Programme (or PEPP) by €500bn to a maximum of €1,850bn, and extending the
expiry until not before March 2022 (previously the expiry had been June 2021),
and introducing certain measures to make it even cheaper for the banking system
to finance companies, through the Targeted Long-Term Refinancing Operations

11 facility (TLTRO I1I).

In the course of the year, the economic recovery, the prospect of favourable
financing conditions being available over the long term, the base effect on the
set of raw materials, and the increase in production costs due to production
processes being relocated from low-cost areas, have produced favourable
conditions for financial markets and consolidated inflationary pressures. In the
twelve months from end-June 2020 to end-June 2021:

— Market inflation expectation rates have increased: 5Y rates by 90 bps, to

1.47%, and 10Y rates by 70 bps, to 1.56%;

—  Stock market prices have risen: the Euro Stoxx 600 is up 26%, while the
German, French, Italian and Spanish indexes have all risen between 22%

and 30%:;

— European government spreads have tightened relative to the German curve,
reaching levels not far from those seen pre-Covid. The spread on 10Y ltalian
government bonds has tightened by approx. 70 bps to 100 bps, and the
spread on 10Y Spanish paper by approx. 32 bps, to 62 bps;

— High-yield bond prices have risen by some 11%;

— The trade-weighted FEuro has remained basically unchanged (after
appreciating by approx. 2.6% at year-end 2020), but has risen by some
5.4% relative to the US dollar.

24 ‘ Consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2021



In line with the European economy, the Italian economy rebounded decisively
in 3Q 2020 (up 16% QoQ), on the back of the support policies implemented,
plus the natural acceleration of activity during the summer months. The equally
natural slowdown during 4Q took the average QoQ growth for the six-month
period to 7.1%. As the recovery consolidated during 1H 2021, the average QoQ
growth rate returned to 1.5%.

This result has been achieved above all thanks to the acceleration that
the new government (inaugurated in mid-February 2021) marked to the
vaccination campaign, as well as by the low level of the economic activity
(as compared to December 2019) in the domestic area, when compared to
the Eurozone.

The prospects for Italian growth continue to be promising. Government
action has allowed a plan for use of the European funds distributed as part
of the NGEU programme to be put together quickly, which was well received
by the European Commission. In the next seven years, the investments will
be concentrated in digitalization and technological innovation (approx. 20%
of the funds), energy transition (30%), sustainable mobility (13%), research
and education (14%), social inclusion (13%), and public healthcare (9%). The
first €24.9bn tranche of the facility (out of a total of €191.5bn) was received in
mid-August, and will be used to finance one component of growth in particular
which is not usually its driver, namely investments. The Bank of Italy’s research
on companies’ prospects has confirmed there has been a marked increase in
the expectations of new investments in production, allied with a high degree
of confidence that the general conditions of the Italian economy will improve
shortly, and of improving prospects in terms of inflation and also the sales prices
for their own output.

In Italy, where economic activity is struggling to match pre-Covid levels,
inflation is growing more sluggishly than the European average. The average
reading in 2H 2020 was -0.3% YoY, compared with -0.2% YoY for the Eurozone,
and in 1H 2021 1.0% YoY, against 1.4% YoY for the Eurozone.

On financial markets, Italian stock market prices suffered a sharp correction
in October 2020 (in line with European ones), in response to the spread of the
Delta variant, which was made up as the launch of the vaccination campaigns
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approached, and as a reflection of the US reflection results (where the new
government promised huge fiscal stimulus measures to support the economy),
plus the recovery already underway in China (where growth was being driven
by the demand for personal protection equipment from the rest of the world).
In the twelve months the FTSE MIB put on 29.6%, compared with 25.7% for
the Euro Stoxx 600.

* ok sk

As for the Italian consumer credit market, the first six months of 2021
show a pronounced, 23% rise in volumes, for total new loans of €35bn, driven
largely by the statistical rebound effect due to the low volumes recorded in
March-May 2020, when the first total lockdown was in place. The market has
not yet, however, fully recovered its pre-crisis levels: comparison with 1H 2019
shows a 11.7% reduction, attributable chiefly to the following segment: personal
loans (down 21.1%), credit cards (down 9.6%), and salary-backed finance (down
5.8%).

Looking at the data for individual segments, there were excellent
performances in special purpose vehicle credit, up 46.9% on 1H 2020 (and up
5.3% on 1H 2019), followed by other special purpose loans, which reported a
30.1% increase in volumes (basically flat versus 1H 2019). Personal loans were
up 31% on 1H 2020, followed by salary-backed finance (up 25.9%), and then
instalment/option credit cards (up 10.5%).

2018 2019 2020 1H 2021

(€m) % (€m) % (€m) % (€m) %
Vehicle credit 5,861 9.8 6,371 9.7 6,664  12.5 4,138 11.8
Personal loans 24,499  41.1 26,123  39.6 17,563 329 11,243 32.1
Specific purpose loans 4,778 8.0 5.363 8.1 4,965 9.3 2,620 7.5
Credit cards 19,064  32.0 22,238 33.7 18,624  34.9 13,881  39.6
Salary-backed finance 5,339 9.0 5,801 8.8 5491 103 3,174 9.1

59,541 100.0 65,896 100.0 53,307 100.0 35,056 100.0

In 2020, the total number of new sales recorded by the Italian real estate
sector was 558,000, 7.6% lower than in 2019, but reflecting an upward trend
in the second half of the year. This continued into 1Q 2021, when a total of

162,000 house sales were recorded, up 38.6% on the same period in 2020
(when obviously results were hit hard by the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic).
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The Italian mortgage lending market was worth a total of €50.5bn in 2020,
an increase of 5.2% on 2019 and back to the same levels as in 2018; the positive
trend continued into 1Q 2021, with even higher growth of 29%.

As for the Italian leasing market, in 2019 the volumes reported had largely
consolidated the previous year’s totals, the market worth €27.9bn, down 3.3%
on 2018; overall 698,000 new leases were executed, down 1.7% on the previous
year. In 2020, however, there was a reduction in the number of leases executed,
to 537,000 (down 23.2% on 2019), worth approx. €22.9bn (down 18% on 2019),
as a result of the worsening macroeconomic situation due to the Covid-19
pandemic. This trend reversed in the first six months of 2021, with new leases
up 48.4% on the same period last year, reaching €14.5bn, and a positive
performance in terms of the number of contracts as well, with a total of 334,000
new leases executed (up 39.2% on the same period in 2020).

2018 2019 2020 1H 2021

(€m) % (€m) % (€m) % (€m) %
Automotive 15,722 52.8 14,132 50.6 11,775 514 7.818  53.8
Plant ad equipment 9426  31.7 9426  33.7 7,762 339 5,057  34.8
Property 4,110 13.8 3,805 13.6 2,720 11.9 1467  10.1
Shipping 516 1.7 579 2.1 631 2.8 186 1.3

29,774 100.0 27,942 100.0 22,888 100.0 14,528 100.0

Source: Dataforce data compiled by Assilea.
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Consolidated profit-and-loss/balance-sheet data

The consolidated profit and loss account and balance sheet have been
restated — including by business area — according to the new divisional
segmentation, in order to provide the most accurate reflection of the Group’s
operations.

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mihs ended Chg. (%)
30 June 2021 30 June 2020

Profit-and-loss data
Net interest income 1,415.0 1,442.2 -1.9
Net treasury income 197.0 136.3 44.5
Net fee and commission income 744.7 630.2 18.2
Equity-accounted companies 271.7 304.3 -10.7
Total income 2,628.4 2,513.0 4.6
Labour costs (635.3) (599.3) 6.0
Administrative expenses (602.8) (589.6) 2.2
Operating costs (1,238.1) (1,188.9) 4.1
Loan loss provisions (248.8) (374.9) -33.6
Provisions for other financial assets 48.4 (20.5) n.m.
Other income (losses) (85.6) (133.4) -35.8
Profit before tax 1,104.3 795.3 38.9
Income tax for the period (292.3) (191.1) 53.0
Minority interest (4.4) (3.8) 15.8
Net profit 807.6 600.4 34.5
Gross operating profit from banking activities 850.8 640.7 32.8
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(€m)

30/6/21 30/6/20
Assets
Financial assets held for trading 11,273.7 8,818.6
Treasury financial assets and cash 8,072.1 9,257.0
Banking book securities 7,150.4 0,3824.5
Customer loans 48.413.8 46.685.1
Equity Investments 4,579.0 4,009.7
Tangible and intangible assets 1,254.3 1,311.8
Other assets 1,855.4 2,043.0
Total assets 82,598.7 78,949.7
Liabilities and net equity
Funding 56,156.2 54,917.0
Treasury financial liabilities 2,890.8 3.,988.0
Financial liabilities held for trading 10,063.6 7,956.9
Other liabilities 2,215.9 2,190.3
Provisions 171.1 157.4
Net equity 10,205.2 9,048.2
Minority interests 38.3 91.5
Profit for the period 807.6 600.4
Total liabilities and net equity 82,598.7 78,949.7
Tier 1 capital 7,689.4 7.745.0
Regulatory capital 8,919.2 9,041.1
Risk-weighted assets 47,159.3 48,030.5
Tier 1 capital/risk-weightes assets 16.31% 16.13%
Regulatory capita/risk-weighted assets 18.91% 18.82%
No. of shares in issue (million) 887.3 887.2
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BALANCE-SHEET/PROFIT-AND-LOSS DATA BY DIVISION

(€m)

12 mths ended 30/6/21 Wealth  Consumer Corporate and  Principal  Holding Group
Management Banking Investment  Investing Functions
Banking

Profit-and-loss
Net interest income 281.1 878.8 286.9 (7.1) (47.4) 1,415.0
Net treasury income 10.3 — 93.2 30.7 57.5 197.0
Net fee and commission income 335.9 123.0 318.1 — 11.8 744.7
Equity-accounted companies — — — 271.7 — 271.7
Total income 627.3 1,001.8 698.2 295.3 21.9 2,628.4
Labour costs (241.0) (104.2) (165.4) (3.6) (121.1) (635.3)
Administrative expenses (230.5) (210.0) (141.3) (1.0) (39.0) (602.8)
Operating costs (471.5) (314.2) (306.7) (4.6) (160.1) (1,238.1)
Loan loss provisions (18.6) (257.6) 40.1 — (12.7) (248.8)
Provisions for other financial assets 1.9 — 2.2 51.8 (7.5) 48.4
Other income (losses) 3.5 (15.2) 0.5 — (73.5) (85.6)
Profit before tax 142.6 414.8 434.3 342.5 (231.9) 1,104.3
Income tax for the period (42.4) (135.9) (147.0) (33.9) 67.5 (292.3)
Minority interest — — 2.8 — 1.7) (4.4)
Net profit 100.2 278.9 284.5 308.6 (166.1) 807.6
Cost/Income (%) 75.2 314 43.9 n.m. n.m. 47.1
Balance-sheet data
Loans and advances to customers 14,404.5 12,942.9 19,292.3 — 1,774.1 48,413.8
Risk-weighted assets 5,217.0 11,779.2 19,924.8 7,246.0 29923  47,159.3
No. of staff 2,037 1,446 635 11 792 4,921
Notes:

1) Divisions comprise:

— Wealth Management (WM): this division brings together all portfolio management services offered to the various client segments, plus asset
management. It includes CheBanca!, which targets the Affluent & Premier client bracket; the MBPB and CMB Monaco private banking
networks, and the asset management companies (Cairn Capital, Mediobanca SGR, Mediobanca Management Company, and RAM Active

Investment), plus Spafid;

— Consumer Banking (CB): this division provides retail clients with the full range of consumer credit products, ranging from personal loans to
salary-backed finance (Compass Banca and Compass RE);
— Corporate and Investment Banking (CIB): this division brings together all services provided to corporate clients in the following areas:

investment banking (lending, advisory, capital markets activities) and proprietary trading (busine:

performed by Mediobanca and

Mediobanca International, Mediobanca Securities and Messier et Associés); and Specialty Finance, which in turn consists of factoring and
credit management (including NPL portfolio acquisitions and management) performed by MBFACTA and MBCredit Solutions;

— Principal Investing (P1): division which brings together the Group’s portfolio of equity investments and holdings;

— Holding Functions: division which includes SelmaBipiemme Leasing, MIS, Spafid Connect and other minor companies, plus the following
Group functions: Treasury and ALM, operations, support and control, as well as the senior management of Mediobanca S.p.A.; for further

details please refer to p. 67.

2) Sum of divisional data differs from Group total due to adjustments/differences arising on consolidation between business areas (equal to €1.5m),
bearing in mind that the following items have not been allocated to the divisions: goodwill impairment charges of €62.5m (€41m, referring to
the adjustment for Messier et Associés); one-off gains deriving from the “Patent Box” exemption and the former Banca Esperia goodwill tax
relief (€20.5m); and the effects of the clawback mechanism applied following the departure of one of the two Messier et Associés equity partners

(€41m).
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(€m)

12 mths ended 30/6/20 Wealth  Consumer Corporate and  Principal  Holding Group
Management Banking Investment  Investing Functions
Banking

Profit-and-loss

Net interest income 271.0 948.0 271.4 (7.1) (55.0) 1,442.2
Net treasury income 6.7 — 779 15.6 375 136.3
Net fee and commission income 306.1 122.6 225.8 — 10.6 630.2
Equity-accounted companies — — — 304.3 — 304.3
Total income 583.8 1,070.6 575.1 312.8 (6.9) 2,513.0
Labour costs (236.5) (102.0) (141.0) (3.3) (116.5) (599.3)
Administrative expenses (214.3) (201.2) (135.2) (1.0) (56.3) (589.6)
Operating costs (450.8) (303.2) (276.2) “4.3) (172.8) (1,188.9)
Loan loss provisions (20.5) (324.7) (20.0) — 9.7) (374.9)
Provisions for other financial assets 0.5) — (3.5) (10.9) (5.6) (20.5)
Other income (losses) 1.8 4.7) — — (64.3) (133.4)
Profit before tax 113.8 438.0 275.4 297.6 (259.3) 795.3
Income tax for the period (32.6) (141.4) (92.4) (2.6) 76.3 (191.1)
Minority interest 0.8) — (2.3) — 0.7) (3.8)
Net profit 80.4 296.6 180.7 295.0 (183.7) 600.4
Cost/Income (%) 77.2 28.3 48.0 n.m. n.m. 47.3
Balance-sheet data

Loans and advances to customers 13,183.6 13,037.4 18,644.2 — 1,819.9 46,685.1
Risk-weighted assets 4,951.7 11,800.8 20,027.7 8,121.9 3,128.4  48,030.5
No. of staff 2,021 1,441 630 11 817 4,920
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Balance sheet

The Group’s total assets increased by 4.6% from €78.9bn to €82.6bn. The
main balance-sheet items, of which Mediobanca S.p.A. contributes 53.4%,
showed the following trends for the twelve months under review (comparative
data as at 30 June 2020).

Funding — funding rose by 2.3%, from €54.9bn to €56.2bn, impacted strongly
by the downward trend in short-term interest rates, which fell approx. 20 bps
in the course of the twelve months, making the cost of holding excess liquidity
even more expensive. Accordingly, the Group’s funding was redirected towards
cheaper forms, primarily the T-LTRO programme (which increased from €5.7bn
to €7.5bn) in view of the extension of the favourable terms offered (additional
premium of 50 bps), followed by customer deposits in the Affluent segment,
which rose from €15.3bn to €16.9bn with a view to stabilizing the cost of
risk and diversifying funding risk (Wealth Management deposits account for
45% of the total). Conversely, the use of debt securities was more tactical,
renewing the amount falling due (approx. €2.7bn) along with the customary net
buybacks on the market (approx. €400m), which meant the stock reduced from
€18.8bn to €18.4bn. New issuance totalled €2.8bn: highlights included the first
senior unsecured green bond (€500m), the Bank’s return to the subordinated
institutional market (with a Tier 2 €250m bond), and the first Italian covered
bond issue at negative interest rates (€750m) with an effective time-to-market.
These actions together enabled the cost of funding to remain stable at approx.
80 bps despite the unfavourable market trend.

30/6/21 30/6/20 Chg.

(€m) e (€m) %
Debt securities (incl. ABS) 18,410.9 33% 18,751.0 34% -1.8%
CheBancal! retail funding 16,919.7 30% 15,276.7 28% 10.8%
Private Banking deposits 8.290.4 15% 8,530.7 16% -2.8%
LTRO 74454 13% 5,600.8 10% 31.5%
Interbank funding (+CD/CP) 5,089.8 9% 6,697.8 12% -24.0%
Total funding 56,156.2 100% 54,917.0 100% 2.3%

Loans and advances to customers — customer loans were up 3.7%, from
€46.7bn to €48.4bn, due to growth in Wealth Management (up 9.3%, from

€13.2bn to €14.4bn), driven in particular by CheBanca! mortgages (which rose
8.1%, from €10.2bn to €11.1bn), reflecting a resilient domestic market; while
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the contribution from CMB Monaco also improved further (up 15.9%, from
€1.8bn to €2.1bn). Higher customer loans in Corporate and Investment Banking
(up 3.5%, from €18.6bn to €19.3bn) were attributable exclusively to Specialty
Finance (up from €2.1bn to €2.7bn), the factoring segment in particular; while
Large Corporate loans were virtually unchanged, at €16.6bn (€16.5bn), despite
higher prepayments and some the booking of some big tickets being deferred to
the next financial year. Leveraged finance exposures decreased by 12%, from
€5.5bn to €4.8bn, and account for less than 30% of the total Corporate loan
book; while in Consumer Banking, the slight reduction recorded in previous
quarters continued, with customer loans for the year totalling €12.9bn (€13bn),
despite reducing in the final months.

In Wholesale Banking (Lending and Structured Finance) there were
substantial repayments of €7.7bn (€2.4bn of which early repayments), against
new loans of €6.8bn (up 15% on last year), despite the strong competition
triggered by the negative market rates and the ample liquidity generated by the
ECB programmes. Turnover in factoring was up 23%, from €7.4bn to €9.1bn.
New loans in Consumer Banking also returned to growth, rising from €6.4bn to
€6.5bn, still a long way from pre-Covid levels (30/6/19: €7.4bn), even though the
4Q performance (€1.8bn) augurs well for the future; and new loans in mortgage
lending were by contrast aligned with pre-Covid levels (stable at €2.2bn).

30/6/21 30/6/20 Chg.
(€m) o (€m) o

Corporate & Investment Banking 19,292.3 40% 18,644.2 40% 3.5%

Consumer loans 12,942.9 26% 13,037.4 28% -0.7%

Wealth Management 14,404.5 30% 13,183.6 28% 9.3%

Holding Functions (leasing) 1,774.1 4% 1,819.9 4% -2.5%

Total loans and advances to customers 48,413.8 100% 46,685.1 100% 3.7%

(€m)

30/6/21 30/6/20

Stagel Stage2  Stage3 Total Stagel Stage2  Stage3 Total

Corporate & Investment Banking 18,173.8 631.0 4875 19,2923 17,229.8 739.4 675.0  18,644.2

Consumer Banking 11,240.2 1,467.3 2354 12,9429 11,282.9 1,430.3 3242 13,0374

Wealth Management 13,328.1 960.1 1163 14,404.5 12,328.9 740.0 114.7  13,183.6

Holding Functions (leasing) 1,331.7 331.7 104.7 1,774.1 1,579.0 122.0 1189 1,819.9
Total loans and advances to

customers 44,073.8 3,396.1 943.9 48,413.8 42,420.6 3,031.7 1,232.8 46,685.1

As % of total 91.0% 7.0% 1.9%  100.0% 90.9% 6.5% 2.6%  100.0%
Total loans and advances to

customers* 44,073.8 3,396.1 560.2 48,030.1 42,420.6 3,031.7 874.2 46,326.5

As % of total 91.8% 7.1% 1.2% 100.0% 91.6% 6.5% 1.9% 100.0%

* Excluding NPLs purchased by MBCredit Solutions.
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30/6/21 30/6/20

Gross Net  Coverage Gross Net Coverage
ratio % ratio %
Corporate Investment Banking 225.0 103.8 53.9% 541.6 316.4 41.6%
Consumer Banking 971.5 235.4 75.8% 1,015.7 324.2 68.1%
Wealth Management 226.1 116.3 48.6% 211.9 114.7 45.9%
Holding Functions (leasing) 174.5 104.7 40.0% 185.0 118.9 35.8%
Total net non-performing loans* 1,597.1 560.2 64.9% 1,954.2 874.2 55.3%
— of which: bad loans 510.1 72.0 425.6 784
As % of total loans and advances 3.2% 1.2% 4.1% 1.9%

* Excluding NPLs purchased by MBCredit Solutions.

Gross non-performing loans decreased from €1,954.2 to €1,597.1m, and
represent 3.2% of the total loan book, an all-time low level. The material reduction
compared to last year (4.1%)" reflects the Group’s highest non-performing
exposure (Burgo) returning to performing status, which takes corporate NPLs to
just 1.2% of total loans, and the reduction in non-performing items in Consumer
Banking (from €1,015.7m to €971.5m, equal to 6.86% of total loans), helped by
disposals and the widespread improvement in risk profile (with reclassifications
to default status also at all-time lows).

The reduction in net NPLs is even more pronounced, down from €874.2m to
€560.2m, just 1.2% of total loans), due to an increase in the coverage ratio (from
55.3% t0 64.9%) in order to address the future uncertainties given that the level
of litigation is still low (net bad debts in particular continue to reflect very low
levels, at €72m, just over 0.15% of the total loan book). Non-performing loans
do not include the NPLs acquired by MBCredit Solutions as part of its business,
which increased in the twelve months from €358.6m to €383.7m following new
investments totalling approx. €78.2m (worth a nominal €700.8m).

The reclassification of non-performing loans takes account of the ECB
recommendations on the treatment for credit risk,? an area which is subject to close
scrutiny by the supervisor. The performing portfolio has therefore been subject to
careful analysis, and borrowers who have applied for waivers or obtained moratoria
in particular have been analysed to assess whether or not there has been a significant
increase in credit risk (SICR), based inter alia on qualitative considerations. At the
year-end, positions classified in Stage2 amounted to €3,396.1m (7% of the total net
loan book, which is low compared to the Italian and European averages®), higher than

“The Finrep gross NPL ratio (calculated without acquired NPLs) decreased during the twelve months from 3.4% to 2.8%; for further details please
see Part E of the Notes to the Accounts.

8 In accordance with the recommendations made in ECB letter (SSM-2020-0744) “Identification and measurement of credit risk in the context of
the coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic™ sent on 4 December 2020 to the CEOs of all significant institutions.

? Sources: EBA Risk Dashboard for 1Q 2021, Risk Indicators in the Statistical Annex (AQT_66: coverage ratio of Stage2 loans and advances at
amortized cost). The national average of Stage2 loans as a percentage of total loans and advances for the sample of Italian banks chosen by the
EBA was 13.3% in 1Q 2021 (source: EBA Risk Dashboard); this falls to 9% for European banks.
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last year (€3,031.7m) due to reclassifications made for 4Q) in Consumer Banking
(over €200m, in conjunction with the introduction of more sensitive [IFRS9 models in
view of the transition to AIRB) and leasing (€144m, for exposures granted extensions
under the terms of the “Sostegni-Bis” decree law).

(€m)

Moratoria (Gross book value) Granted until Expired®> Residual until % Loans and of which

30/6/21" 30/6/21 advances to Stagel
customers®

Corporate and Investment Banking 5.5 0.7 4.8 — 4.5

Consumer Banking 1.149.9 1,071.3 78.6 0.6% 3.1

Wealth Management 653.8 442.4 211.5 1.5% 20.0

Leasing (holding function) 698.3 271.6 426.6 22.9% 115.8

Total Moratoria for Covid-19 2,507.4 1,786.0 721.4 1.4% 143.4

- of which Decreto Cura Italia 45.1% 78.8%

- of which industry-wide initiatives 31.8% 6.9%

- of which individual initiative’ 23.1% 14.2%

! Gross book value net of amounts collected and repayments as at 30 June 2021.
2 Moratoria paid off, i.e. those for which the payment suspension terms have ended and the normal repayment schedule has resumed.
* Covid-related moratoria outstanding as a percentage of gross customer loans at 30 June 2021.

' Moratoria granted on a voluntary basis at the Bank’s own initiative.

As at 30 June 2021, moratoria outstanding'® involved loans in a total amount of
approx. €721.4m (or 1.4% of the total loan book), representing approx. 30% of the
total amount granted during the pandemic (€2.5bn). The remainder is concentrated
in leasing (approx. 60%) and mortgage lending (approx. 29%), while the amount in
Consumer Banking is purely residual (at just under €80m), as follows:"

—  Moratoria granted in leasing amounted to just under €700m, more than 85% of
which under the terms of the “Cura Italia” decree; of these, €427m were still
outstanding at 30 June 2021, but approx. 40% (€157m) have not applied for
extensions and so have resumed the original schedule for concluding the moratoria
process as from the month of July, while the remainder have given notice of their
intention to take up the extension offered by law until 31 December 2021. Out
of the moratoria that have so far expired, 89% have resumed making regular
repayments, 2% have applied for further extensions, while the other 9% are past
due. The share classified as Stage2 has increased to €287m, as it now includes
all exposures for which extensions have been granted, while the share classified
as non-performing is minor (€23.6m). The exposures include interest accrued but
not collected in an amount of approx. €12.6m; collection is anticipated to resume
during July, including for those customers that have asked for extensions;

10 As well as adhering to the moratoria initiatives provided under the terms of the “Cura ltalia”, “Liquidita”, and “Sostegni-bis” decrees, and those
promoted by the category associations (primarily ABI and Assofin), the Mediobanca Group has also launched its own initiatives on a voluntary
basis, in Consumer Banking in particular, based on the conviction that it is of fundamental importance to provide its clients with assistance in
these challenging times.

! Gross figures.

') Net of positions already classified as non-performing when the moratoria were granted, the percentage of non-performing exposures past due
reduces from 9% to just 1%.
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—  Moratoria granted for mortgages totalled €652.9m, of which €210.6m (or 1.9%
of total loans) are still outstanding, after approx. 70% (€442.4m) were paid
off. Of the moratoria that have so far expired, approx. 80% have resumed
making regular repayments, 18% have applied for further extensions, while
the other 2% are past due. The share classified as Stage2 has increased to
€168.7m, and now represents approx. 80% of the total, in addition to the share
already reclassified as non-performing (11%, or €22.7m). Interest accrued but
pending collection at the end of the moratorium period totalled €7.2m;

—  The moratoria programme in Consumer Banking came to an end on 31 March
2021: €78.6m are still outstanding (just under 7% of the total), versus a total
amount granted of €1.3bn; of the share that has expired, approx. 80% resumed
making regular repayments immediately; while of the current stock, approx.

90% has been classified as Stage2;

—  Corporate Banking was unaffected by moratoria (the only item of relevance
being approx. €5m in factoring), but around forty applications for waivers have
been received, chiefly for covenants to be revised; requests for repayments
(of principal and/or interest) to be deferred are marginal, at less than €15m,
and of these, since the start of the pandemic, just three applications have
qualified as forbearance measures. Nonetheless, certain positions have
been reclassified as Stage2 on prudential grounds (as at 30 June 2021 these
represented approx. one-quarter of the applications, for a total balance-sheet
exposure of €373m, or 2.2% of the total performing loan book).

It should also be noted, lastly, that at 30 June 2021 Mediobanca S.p.A. had
a total of seven positions outstanding with SACE coverage under the terms of the
“Liquidita” decree law, involving a total exposure of €203m.

Investment holdings'® — these increased, from €4bn to €4.6bn, €3.7bn consisting
of the investment in Assicurazioni Generali. The remainder consists of holdings in
funds as to €655.7m, almost 70% of which invested in the Group’s asset management
activities (seed capital), while €220.5m is invested in listed and unlisted equities,
recognized at fair value but through other comprehensive income.

The book value of the Group’s investment in Assicurazioni Generali
(equal to 12.9% of the company’s share capital) increased from €3,163.4m to
€3,663.1m, following profit for the period totalling €273.4m (€103.2m of which
in 1Q FY 2021), and an increase in the valuation reserve (up €431.2m, approx.

'* This heading brings together investments covered by IAS28, investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (formerly
AFS), and funds (including seed capital) recognized at fair value through profit and loss.
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60% of which was attributable to the fixed-income component due to the trend
in interest rates and spreads on government securities), impacted only in part by

the dividend collected (€204m).

The Group’s investment in IEO (25.4%) shows a reduction in book value
from €41.3m to €39.7m, due to the company’s shrinking profits (a pro rata
loss of €1.7m for the year was recorded), reflecting the impact of the Covid-19
emergency for the whole twelve months.

Regarding the Group’s historical investment in Burgo (originally equal to 22.13%
of the company’s share capital, then wiped out in 2013), the asset has been reclassified
and is no longer an investment in an associate company as defined by IAS28 but as
shares held as part of the Financial Assets recognized at Fair Value through OCI
portfolio, the stake having reduced to 4% of the company following the investment
by the new shareholder. As at 30 June 2021, the fair value of the equity instruments,
which to that point had been written off on prudential grounds, as a result of the
changes to the company which resulted in the exposure regaining performing status,
was measured at €55m, approx. 42% of their nominal value (€130m).

Investments in seed capital grew from €435.7m to €442.1m, following
disposals of €42m, and reflecting valuations and gains on disposals totalling
€48.1m, far higher than the entry levels; other holdings in funds (mostly private
equity) decreased from €227.7m to €213.6m on net redemptions totalling
€20.6m and gains arising on valuations totalling €5.9m.

Investments equities, excluding the Burgo equity instruments referred to
earlier, increased from €141.6m to €165.4m as a result of new acquisitions
totalling €10m (mostly new purchases, plus the addition of ordinary shares
following the exercise of warrants and preference shares in relation to carried
interest) and upward valuations amounting to €13.2m.

(€m)

30/6/21 30/6/20
Book value HTC&S Book value HTC&S
reserve reserve
1AS28 investments 3,702.8 n.a. 3.204.7 n.a.
Listed shares 130.2 71.9 112.5 65.6
Other unlisted shares 90.3 63.4 29.1 5.3
Seed capital 442.1 — 435.7 —
Private equity 82.2 — 70.6 —
Other funds 131.4 — 157.1 —
Total equity holdings 4,579.0 135.3 4,009.7 70.9
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The Group’s investment in Assicurazioni Generali at 30 July 2021 had a
stock market value of €3,426.9m, up sharply on last year, but still below its book
value; the investment passed the impairment test, as the value in use, calculated
in accordance with Group policy, was higher than its current book value. Based on
current stock market prices, the investment is worth €3,622.5m.

For further details please see the Notes to the Accounts, Assets, section 7 —
Equity investments.

(€m)

% ownership 30/6/121 30/6/20

Assicurazioni Generali 12.87 3,663.1 3,163.4
Istituto Europeo di Oncologia 25.37 39.7 41.3
Total IAS28 investments 3,702.8 3,204.7

Banking book debt securities — Banking book debt securities rose from
€6.8bn to €7.1bn, due to higher investments in the Hold to Collect & Sell
segment (which total €4.3bn, representing 60% of the total portfolio), against
non-renewals of securities classified as Hold to Collect (fixed assets). During
the twelve months there were purchases of €4.2bn (half of which in Italian
government securities classified as Hold To Collect & Sell), offsetting disposals
worth €2.2bn and redemptions totalling €1.8bn (roughly half of which in
the HTC portfolio). In the period under review gains totalling €49.1m were
realized, with no impact on the OCI reserve, which increased from €13.1m
to €73m, the increase reflecting the sharp narrowing of spreads on Italian
government securities in particular.

30/6/21 30/6/20

(€m) % (€m) %
Hold to Collect 2,723.8 38% 3,285.4 48%
Hold to Collect & Sell 4,346.9 61% 3,485.9 51%
Other (Mandatorily measured at FV) 79.7 1% 53.2 1%
Total banking book securities 7,150.4 100% 6,824.5 100%

The sovereign portfolio grew from €4.7bn to €5.4bn, 65% of which Italian
(€3.5bn, with a duration of 3.3 years), and just under 30% in other core
European issuers (Bund, OAT and Bonos) to support the liquidity buffer, which
overall rose to €5.5bn, including approx. €100m in bonds issued by financials.
Unrealized gains on the Hold to Collect securities (which are recognized at cost)

totalled €94m (€106m).
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30/6/21

30/6/20

Book value ocCI Book value ocCI

urc  urces oo urc  urces oo
Ttalian government bonds 12724  2,229.3 41.6 1,512.,5  1,740.0 2.6
Foreign government bonds 506.9  1,360.5 -1.3 621.9 873.7 -0.4
Bond issued by financial institutions 570.2 468.6 20.5 687.8 613.2 8.3
Corporate bonds 144.4 282.5 12.2 261.8 259.0 2.6
Asset Backet Securities (ABS) 229.9 — — 201.2 — —
Total banking book securities 2,723.8 4,346.9 73.0 3,285.2 3,485.9 13.1

Net treasury assets — the increase in net treasury assets, from €6.1bn to €6.4bn,

was minor and limited to movements in instruments held for trading (which increased
from €0.9bn to €1.2bn), including equities (€2.3bn) and bonds (€939.4m), and offset
the certificates issued (€1.9bn) and hedging of the underlying risks. More efficient

liquidity management led to a reduction in deposits held with the ECB (from €3.1bn
to €1.8bn) and other liquid assets (from €2.1bn to €1.9bn) in favour of more dynamic
treasury assets (such as time deposits, repos, trade secured/unsecured) in an attempt

to preserve indicators such as the LCR and Asset Encumbrance Ratio, while

minimizing the impact of temporary excess liquidity on earnings.

(€m)

30/6/21 30/6/20 (€m)

Financial assets held for trading 11,273.7 8,818.6 27.8%
Treasury financial assets and cash 8,072.1 9,257.0 -12.8%
Financial liabilities held for trading (10,063.6) (7,956.9) 26.5%
Treasury financial liabilities (2,890.8) (3,988.0) -27.5%
Net treasury assets 6,391.4 6,130.7 4.3%
(€m)

30/6/21 30/6/20 Chg.

Equities 2,263.8 1,807.2 25.3%
Bond securities 939.4 564.8 66.3%
Derivative contract valuations (107.8) (145.4) -25.9%
Certificates (1,889.3) (1,368.9) 38.0%
Trading loans 4.0 3.9 2.6%
Financial instruments held for trading 1,210.1 861.6 40.5%
(€m)

30/6/21 30/6/20 Chg.

Cash and current accounts 1,851.4 2,073.7 -10.7%
Cash available at BCE 1,845.2 3,101.4 -40.5%
Deposits 1,484.7 94.0 n.m.
Net treasury 5,181.3 5,269.1 -1.7%
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(€m)

30/6/21 30/6/20
Assets Liabilities Assels Liabilities
Ttalian government bonds 1,758.3 (1,741.4) 1,274.8 (1,109.3)
Foreign government bonds 1,120.0 (2,059.3) 606.2 (1,828.4)
Bond issued by financial institutions 1,196.4 — 1,258.6 —
Corporate bonds 537.5 0.9 333.9 —
Asset Backet Securities (ABS) 128.8 — 29.0 —
Equities 2,524.5 (260.7) 2,032.2 (225.0)
Total securities 7,265.5 (4,062.3) 5,534.7 (3,162.7)
(Em)

30/6/21 30/6/20
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Interest rate swaps 541.5 (478.3) 696.9 (587.7)
Foreign exchange 214.6 (296.0) 217.5 (256.0)
Interest rate options/futures 5.5 (20.1) 43.6 (10.5)
Equity swaps e options 2,922.9 (2,961.8) 2,134.7 (2,325.0)
Credit derivatives (others) 319.9 (355.8) 187.2 (246.1)
Derivative contract valuations 4,004.3 (4,112.0) 3,279.9 (3,425.3)
(€m)

30/6/21 30/6/20
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Securities lending/repos deposits 3,009.5 (1,548.9) 3,134.7 (2,596.1)
Stock lending deposits 407.1 (449.5) 324.4 (318.7)
Other deposits 962.1 (895.6) 626.0 (1,076.3)
Deposits 4,378.7 (2,894.0) 4,085.1 (3,991.1)

Tangible and intangible assets — these decreased from €1,311.8bn to €1,254.3m,
following changes in goodwill (due to impairment and other adjustments), which
reduced the stock of intangibles from €816.1m to €744.1m. Conversely, tangible assets
increased, from €495.7m to €510.2m, due to new leases being taken out pursuant to
IFRS16, and reflecting the capitalization of costs on improvements to third-party assets.
As previously mentioned, at end-June 2021 the goodwill on the Group’s investment in
RAM was reduced, resulting in a charge of €18.6m being taken to profit and loss, due
to the company’s failure to meet its budget objectives because of the sharp drop in
AUM, which have reduced even further than last year. In addition, there was a €2.9m
adjustment to the fiduciary services cash-generating unit (CGU), and the goodwill on
the Messier et Associés acquisition was also reduced to compensate for the effects of
the clawback mechanism on the stake owned by Erik Maris following his departure.
The goodwill and software related to the Services for Issuers CGU (i.e. Spafid Connect)
were also reclassified as other assets (IFRS5) for €4.2m.

Depreciation and amortization charges for the twelve months amounted to €85.8m
(€83.8m), €37.8m of which by way of value in use under IFRS16 (€38.6m), €15.6m of
which for tangible assets (€15m), and €32.4m for intangible assets (€30.2m).
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As required by IAS36'" and the Group Policy, the annual impairment test

has been carried out; for further details, please refer to Section 10 of the Notes

to the Accounts.

30/6/21 30/6/20 Chg.
(€m) % (€m) Y%
Land and properties 459.8 37% 447.8 34% 2.7%
- of which: core 176.7 14% 179.8 14% -1.7%
buildings RoU ex IFRS16 212.4 17% 1906.1 15% 8.3%
Other tangible assets 50.4 4% 479 4% 5.2%
- of which: RoU ex IFRS16 10.3 1% 11.8 1% -12.7%
Goodwill 602.4 48% 666.5 51% -9.6%
Other intangible assets 141.7 11% 149.6 11% -5.3%
Total tangible and intangible assets 1,254.3 100% 1,311.8 100% -4.4%
(ém)
Transaction 30/6/21 30/6/20
Compass-Linea 365.9 365.9
Spafid 3.7 9.0
Cairn Capital 43.3 40.7
MB Private Banking 52.1 52.1
RAM 44.2 64.6
Messier et Associés 93.2 134.2
Total Goodwill 602.4 666.5

An updated list of the core properties owned by the Group is provided below:

Squ. M Book value (€m) Book value
per squ. m (€k)
Milan:
— Piazzetta Enrico Cuccia n. 1 9,318 14.4 1.5
— Via Filodrammaticin. 1, 3,5, 7 -
Piazzetta Bossin. 1 -
Piazza Paolo Ferrari n. 6 13,390 62.7 4.7
— Foro Buonaparte n. 10 2,926 9.1 3.1
— Via Siusin. 1-7 22,608 24.2 1.1
Rome * 1,790 79 4.4
Vicenza 4,239 4.7 1.1
Luxembourg 442 3.6 8.1
Monaco 4,721 48.7 10.3
Other minor properties 3,637 1.3 0.4
Total 63,071 176.6

* The Piazza di Spagna property, carried at a book value of €24.2m, is used only in part by Mediobanca, and has therefore not been included

among the core assels.

'* Having regard also to both the ESMA and Consob regulations.
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Investment properties were worth €62.9m (30/6/20: €64.3m) following
depreciation charges of €1.9m, while “Tangible asset inventories” (in
accordance with TAS2) totalled €8m and include assets collected under
leasing agreements.

Provisions —these increased from €157.4m to €171.1m, due to higher provisions
being set aside to meet commitments and guarantees (which nearly doubled,
from €14m to €27.2m) as a result of applying the IFRS9 provisioning models.
The staff severance and post-retirement provisions were basically unchanged,
at €30.4m (€28.3m), against a slight increase in provisions for risks and charges
(up from €113m to €115.6m). Of the latter, there were higher provisions by
Compass (up from €5.2m to €17.5m) to cover the potential liability versus
Consumer Banking clients following the Lexitor ruling (out of €15m set aside
to this end, a total of €3.5m has been drawn); the remaining €98.1m is split
between Mediobanca (€68.9m), CheBanca! (€15.3m), SelmaBipiemme (€9.2m)
and CMB Monaco (€1.2m).

30/6/21 30/6/20 Chg.

(€m) % (€m) %
Commitments and financial guarantees given 27.2 16 14.0 9 n.m.
Provisions for risks and charges 115.6 67 113.0 72 2.3%
Staff severance indemnity provision 28.3 17 30.4 19 -6.9%
of which: staff severance provision discount 4.1 — 4.4 — -6.8%
Total provision 171.1 100 157.4 100 8.7%

Net equity — net equity climbed from €9,648.6m to €11,012.8m, reflecting the
profit for the year (€807.6m), and also the higher valuation reserves (which rose
from €374.7m to €931.2m) due to the increased contribution from Assicurazioni
Generali (equity method; up from €341.7m to €780.4m) financial assets
recognized at fair value through OCI (up from €71.5m to €175.8m), plus the
reduced liability run on the cash flow hedge reserves (which virtually halved,
from €30.6m to €16m). The higher capitalization level also reflects the non-
payment of a dividend in 2020, with the entire profit for the period (€600.4m)
being taken to other reserves.

42 | Consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2021



The Bank owns a total of 24.9 million treasury shares (2.81% of the
company’s share capital), slightly lower than last year (26.6 million, or 3% of

the share capital), after 1.7 million treasury shares were used in connection with

the performance share scheme.

(€m)

30/6/21 30/6/120 Chg.

Share capital 443.6 443.6 n.m.
Other reserves 8,830.4 8,229.9 7.3%
Valuation reserves 931.2 374.7 n.m.
- of which: Other Comprehensive Income 175.8 71.5 n.m.
cash flow hedge (16.0) (30.6) -47.7%

equity investments 7804 341.7 n.m.

Profit for the period 807.6 600.4 34.5%
Total Group net equity 11,012.8 9,648.6 14.1%

The Group’s OCI reserve was in positive territory, at €175.8m, after the tax
effect of €32.6m, split between equities (€135.4m) and bonds and other debt

securities (€73m), including Italian sovereign debt securities of €41.6m.

(€m)

30/6/21 30/6/20 Chg.

Equity shares* 135.4 67.8 n.m.
Bonds 73.0 13.1 n.m.
of which: Italian government bonds 41.6 2.6 n.m.
Tax effect (32.6) 9.4) n.m.
Total OCI reserve 175.8 71.5 n.m.

* Includes the Burgo equity instruments for a total of €55m.
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Profit and loss account

Net interest income — net interest income reflected a slight 1.9% decrease, from
€1,442.2m to €1,415m, as a result of the ongoing, quarter-by-quarter reduction;
following years of growth, NII in Consumer Banking (which declined by 7.3%, from
€948m to €878.8m) was hit by the Covid-related effect not only in terms of the lower
volumes of new loans (in part made up in the final months of the financial year), but also
the reduced profitability (down 40 bps), in part the result of the different product mix,
but more so the reduction in spreads due to the competitive scenario and the reduction
in demand. Meanwhile, the other divisions’ performances mitigated the overall impact,
as follows: Corporate and Investment Banking (up 5,7%, from €271.4m to €286.9m),
Wealth Management (up 3.7%, from €271m to €281.1m) and Holding Functions
(net interest expense down from €55m to €47.4m). In particular, the performance in
Corporate and Investment Banking was boosted, in addition to certain non-recurring
items, by increased activities in securities, plus higher turnover in Specialty Finance;
NII'in Wealth Management reflects the trend in CheBanca! deposits, towards lower end
costs; while the reduction in the net interest expense incurred by the Holding Functions
reflects the increased recourse to the T-LTRO facilities, and careful management of the
abundant liquidity position. Overall the cost of funding (calculated as the difference
versus Euribor) was unchanged at 80 bps despite the further reduction in market rates
(approx. 20 bps) and a highly volatile market at the short end of the curve.

(€m)

12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.

30/6/21 30/6/20
Consumer Banking 878.8 948.0 -7.3%
Wealth Management 281.1 271.0 3.7%
Corporate and Investment Banking 286.9 271.4 5.7%
Holding Functions and other (including IC) (31.8) (48.2) -34.0%
Net interest income 1,415.0 1,442.2 -1.9%

Net treasury income — net treasury income returned to 2019 levels, at €197m,
following last year’s sharp reduction (down 31%, to €136.3m), following a good
performance by the proprietary book (trading and banking), plus income from
shares and funds held as part of the banking book. In particular, the Holding
Functions division delivered a profit of €57.5m, with the banking book
contributing €47.9m after certain gains were realized on material appreciation
by the OCI valuation reserve (the balance of which was €73m, of which €41.6m
involving Italian securities); proprietary trading contributed €37.4m, comfortably
recovering the €7.7m loss reported last year; dividends and other income collected
from the Principal Investing stakes doubled, from €15.6m to €30.7m, helped by
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certain non-recurring items (one-off dividends in respect of the Burgo investment,
plus gains on the Jakala and Philogen investments). Conversely, client activity
slowed further, with income down from €85.6m to €60.6m, almost half the amount
reported in 2019, due to the difficulties in distributing structured products which
hit the fixed-income segment hardest all (which last year performed well).

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.

30/6/21 30/6/20
Corporate Investment Banking 93.2 779 19.6%
of which: client fixed income 34.4 64.3 -46.5%
Principal Investing 30.7 15.6 n.m.
Holding Functions 57.5 37.5 53.3%
Other (including Intercompany) 15.6 5.3 n.m.
Net treasury income 197.0 136.3 44.5%

Net fee and commission income —fee income grew from €630.2m to €744.7m (up
18.2%), driven by impressive performances in Corporate and Investment Banking
and Wealth Management, which recorded the highest levels seen in recent years.
Fees earned from CIB were up 40.9% (from €225.8m to €318.1m), on outstanding
performances in Equity Capital Market (fees of €42m, vs €5.2m), with Mediobanca
participating in all the main deals; while fees from Corporate Finance rose by 13.4%
(from €112.4m to €127.5m), driven not just by certain big M&A tickets (PSA — FCA,
Veolia, and Intesa/UBI), but also strong growth in Mid Corporate business (fees up
from €12.5m to €19.3m), on the back of close co-operation with Mediobanca Private
Banking. Fee income from Specialty Finance also climbed 39% (from €34.6m to
€48.1m), on good performances in both factoring (up 55%) and credit management
(up 33%). Growth in AUM/AUA (up 16%) and margins (from 84 bps to 87 bps)
drove fees earned in the Affluent segment up 24.2% (from €101.9m to €126.6m)
and in Private Banking (up 14.1% from €124.1m to €141.6m), both contributing to
the strong performance from Wealth Management (fees up 9.7%, from €306.1m to
€335.9m). Fees earned from Consumer Banking were basically flat, at €123m, the
lower contribution from insurance-based products (down from €61m to €49m) offset
by the reduced impact of rappel fees (down from €32m to €21m, in 1H in particular).

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Che.
30/6/21 30/6/120

Wealth Management 335.9 3006.1 9.7%
Corporate & Investment Banking 318.1 225.8 40.9%
Consumer Banking 123.0 122.6 0.3%
Holding Functions and other (including intercompany) (32.3) (24.3) 32.9%
Net fee and commission income 744.7 630.2 18.2%
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Equity-accounted companies — the reduced contribution from Assicurazioni

Generali recorded in 1H was reflected in the full-year result of €273.4m

(€304.7m), and impacted on the performance for this item as a whole (which

accordingly reduced from €304.3m to €271.7m), reflecting also the net loss

incurred by the IEO (€1.7m), which was unable to perform its specialized

activities as normal due to the ongoing healthcare crisis.

Operating costs — these were up 4.1%, from €1,188.9m to €1,238.1m, as a
result of investments resuming in 2H, and compared with figures for last year

which reflected the cost containment measures adopted in the spring months of

2020. The main cost components performed as follows:

Labour costs of €635.3m (€599.3m) reflect enhancement of the commercial
network, plus the increase in the variable remuneration component in line with
the excellent results delivered; the increase was generalized across all business
lines, in view of the sharp reductions seen last year as a result of the sudden
onset of the pandemic; labour costs in Corporate and Investment Banking rose
by 17.3% (from €141m to €165.4m), returning to 2019 levels after the stringent
cuts made to the variable component in investment banking last year; while
labour costs in Wealth Management rose by 1.9%, (from €236.5m to €241m),
with growing contributions in Private Banking (up 2.7%, from €75.7m to
€77.7m) and the Affluent segment (up 5.5%, from €115.7m to €122.1m), the
figures affected by the new recruits in this segment;

Administrative expenses were more or less stable, at €602.8m (€589.6m): the
increase involved IT costs (up 7.8%, from €132.3m to €142.6m), and marketing
and communication expenses (up 6.5%, from €37.2m to €39.6m) related to
the CheBanca! and Compass adverts and the CMB Monaco rebranding, which
were mostly offset by the strong reduction in travel and entertainment expenses;
overall, administrative expenses in Consumer Banking increased from €201.2m
to €210m, in Wealth Management from €214.3m to €230.5m (concentrated in the
Affluent segment; up from €134.1m to €145.7m); while the increase in Corporate
and Investment Banking was more contained (up from €135.2m to €14.1.3m) and
was attributable to the resumption of project activities and to the higher credit
recovery expenses incurred in credit management (up from €15.4m to €19.8m).

(€m)

12 mths ended 30/6/21 12 mths ended 30/6/20 Chg.

Labour costs 635.3 599.3 6.0%
of which: directors 7.5 10.7 -29.9%
stock option and performance share schemes 14.4 12.6 14.3%

Sundry operating costs and expenses 602.8 589.6 2.2%
of which: depreciations and amortizations (incl. IFRS16) 85.8 83.8 2.4%
administrative expenses 517.0 505.8 2.2%

Operating costs 1,238.1 1,188.9 4.1%
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(€m)

12 mths ended 30/6/21 12 mths ended 30/6/20 Chg.
Legal, tax and professional services 12.6 10.3 22.3%
Other consultancy expenses 33.8 35.1 -3.7%
Credit recovery activities 60.4 57.2 5.6%
Marketing and communication 39.6 37.2 6.5%
Rent and property maintenance 20.8 21.4 -2.8%
EDP 142.6 132.3 7.8%
Financial information subscriptions 44.4 44.7 -0.7%
Bank services, collection and payment commissions 24.4 24.2 0.8%
Operating expenses 64.2 65.0 -1.2%
Other labour costs * 4.7 14.7 -68.0%
Other costs 42.5 36.8 15.5%
Direct and indirect taxes 27.0 26.9 0.4%
Total administrative expenses 517.0 505.8 2.2%

* This heading includes travel and conference expenses.

Loan loss provisions — the sharp reduction in provisioning, from €374.9m to
€248.8m, reflects improvementinthe cost of risk, from 82 bpsto 52 bps (aligned to 2019
levels), but at the same time conceals the prudential classification and provisioning
measures implemented at end-December 2020, in full compliance with the ECB
recommendations, and continued in the year-end accounts, to mitigate the release
of funds in connection with the new, improved macro scenario. The main drivers
in keeping down loan loss provisions were: the writebacks to the Large Corporate
portfolio (the Burgo investment in particular; €110m), the good performance in terms
of moratoria being paid off; and improvement across the board in all risk indicators
(writeoffs in Consumer Banking; regularity in mortgage repayments; refinancing and/
or capital strengthening by Large Corporate clients even in the sectors hardest hit),
which all limited the numbers of reclassifications and downgrades. In accordance
with the prudent approach that has distinguished Mediobanca through the years, it
was decided not to recycle the effects of adapting the macroeconomic scenario in the
IFRS9 models through the profit and loss account, increasing the overlays by some
€300m instead, in order to preserve the same, record level of provisioning as at end-
2020 (Group NPL coverage ratio: 64.9%; performing loans 1.36%). The majority of
these results came from Consumer Banking, with overlays of nearly €200m, with
coverage ratios at their highest ever levels (NPLs: 75.8%; performing loans: 3.62%)
and Corporate and Investment Banking, with overlays of approx. €90m.

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.
30/6/21 30/6/20
Corporate & Investment Banking (40.1) 20.0 n.m.
Consumer Banking 257.6 324.7 -20.7%
Wealth Management 18.6 20.5 -9.3%
Holding Functions (leasing) 12.7 9.7 30.9%
Loan loss provisions 248.8 374.9 -33.6%
Cost of risk (bps) 52 82
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Provisions for other financial assets'® — this item reflects net writebacks
for the twelve months of €48.4m (compared with €20.5m in value adjustments
last year); this performance was driven by positive valuations of financial assets
mandatorily recognized at fair value (investments in Group funds and other
private equity and real estate funds) amounting to €55.5m, only in part offset by
the higher provisioning for banking book activities (charges of €7.1m) related to
the IFRS9 models.

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg.

30/6/21 30/6/20
Hold-to-Collect securities 0.9 4.0 -77.5%
Hold-to-Collect & Sell securities 6.2 4.8 29.2%
Financial assets mandatorily FVTPL' (55.5) 11.7 n.m.
Provisions for other financial assets (48.4) 20.5 n.m.

! These are funds recognized at fair value.

Other gains (losses) — the net balance for this item, of €85.6m (30/6/20:
€133.4m) reflects the contributions to the various resolution funds, totalling
€73.5m (€59.7m), plus other, non-recurring items amounting to approx. €12.1m
(€73.7m). The twelve months under review include the following payments: to
the European Single Resolution Fund, of €42.4m (14.1% higher than last year,
because of the increase in the deposits guaranteed by the Group and the system);
the Italian resolution fund, of €13.1m; and the Italian deposit guarantee scheme
(DGS), of €17.9m (which this year includes the Group’s pro rata share of the one-
off contributions in respect of Carige and Banca Popolare di Bari). The other
components chiefly regard extraordinary charges taken by Compass (approx.
€15m) to meet applications for refunds from clients following the Lexitor ruling.
The heading also includes writedowns to goodwill totalling €21.5m (€18.6m of
which for RAM) largely offset by non-recurring tax income of €20.5m, resulting
from the exemption deriving from the Group’s adherence to the “Patent Box”
scheme'® for the Mediobanca and Compass brands (resulting in a €13.7m effect
on current taxes for the year under review), plus the net effect to profit of loss of
the tax relief deriving from the process to align the accounting and tax values of
intangible and tangible assets (€6.8m, principally in connection with the former
Banca Esperia goodwill and brands).!

1> Under TFRS9, the impairment process applies to all financial assets (securities, repos, deposits and current accounts) recognized at cost (the
“Hold to Collect” model) and to all bonds recognized at fair value through other comprehensive income (the “Hold to Collect and Sell” model).

' In accordance with the provisions of the Italian stability law.

'"In accordance with the provisions of the 2021 Italian financial law (Article 110 of Italian Decree Law 104/20).
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Income tax — income tax for the year totalled €292.3m, at an effective tax rate
of 26.5%), slightly higher than last year (at €191.1m and 24% respectively), due
to the higher component for dividends from associates and subsidiaries, on which

IRAP is paid at 50%.

Mediobanca (as consolidating entity) has adopted tax consolidation,
which includes Compass Banca, SelmaBipiemme Leasing, MIS, CheBancal!,
MBCredit Solutions and Spafid Connect. Relations between the consolidating
and consolidated entities are governed by bilateral agreements regulating cash
flows, exchanges of information and the individual companies’ responsibilities
versus the revenue authorities.

In May 2021, the Board of Directors of Mediobanca S.p.A. adopted the
guidelines and conduct principles for the Group in applying the tax regulations
in Italy and elsewhere. These are contained in the document on Tax conduct
principles which has been published on the Group’s website, and constitute one
of the prerequisites for adopting the Tax Control Framework.
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Balance-sheet/profit-and-loss data by division

WEALTH MANAGEMENT

This division brings together all asset administration and management
services offered to the following client segments:

—  Affluent & Premier (CheBanca!);
—  Private Banking (Mediobanca Private Banking and CMB Monaco).

Wealth Management also includes the asset management division
(Mediobanca SGR, Cairn Capital, RAM Active Investments and Mediobanca
Management Company), plus the fiduciary activities performed by Spafid, Spafid
Family Office SIM and Spafid Trust.

(€m)
12 mths ended 30/6/21 12 mihs ended 30/6/20 Chg. (%)
Profit-and-loss
Net interest income 281.1 271.0 3.7
Net trading income 10.3 6.7 53.7
Net fee and commission income 335.9 3006.1 9.7
Total income 627.3 583.8 7.5
Labour costs (241.0) (236.5) 1.9
Administrative expenses (230.5) (214.3) 7.6
Operating costs (471.5) (450.8) 4.6
Loan loss provisions (18.6) (20.5) -9.3
Provisions for other financial assets 1.9 (0.5) n.m.
Other income (losses) 3.5 1.8 n.m.
Profit before tax 142.6 113.8 25.3
Income tax for the period (42.4) (32.6) 30.1
Minority interest — 0.8 n.m.
Net profit 100.2 80.4 24.6
Cost/Income (%) 75.2 77.2
30/6/21 30/6/20
Balance-sheet data
Loans and advances to customers 14.,404.5 13,183.6
of which:
Chebanca! mortgage loans 11,062.8 10,235.0
Private Banking 3,341.7 2,948.6
New loans 2,219.6 2,173.2
Risk-weighted assets 5,217.0 4,951.7
ROAC 21% 19%
No. of staff 2,037 2,021
30/6/21 30/6/20 Chg. (%)
Commercial data
Relationship managers 486 454 7.0%
Financial advisors 465 414 12.3%
No. of branches/agencies CheBanca! 205 192 6.8%
Private Banker 131 132 -0.8%
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Wealth Management delivered a net profit of €100m, on revenues up
7.5% (to €627.3m, approx. 54% of which from fee income), with the cost/
income ratio down to 75% (vs 77% last year). ROAC increased to 21% (19%).
The robust commercial activity, which did not slow during the pandemic,
coupled with the buoyant trend on financial markets, drove growth in TFAs
(to €71.5bn, up 12.4% YoY), in indirect funding in particular (to €46.3bn
up 16.3% YoY), and an increase in the average return of portfolios (ROA up
from 84 bps to 87 bps).

In line with the 2019-23 Strategic Plan guidelines, during the twelve months
the distribution network was strengthened with the addition of more than 80
professionals, two-thirds since January 2021. CheBanca! has increased its sales
force with the addition of 32 new Premier relationship managers (making a total
of 486) and 51 FAs (making a total of 465) working out of 107 branch offices
and 98 POS increasingly focused on Premier clientele. Recruitment in Private
Banking (6 bankers) encouraged turnover with the same number of bankers: 131
bankers, 84 of whom on the domestic market.

In the twelve months, the wealth management platform has been expanded
further, with seven new distribution agreements signed with third-party asset
managers. The following placements have also been successfully completed:
Mediobanca SGR’s “Mediobanca Diversified Credit Portfolio Target Maturity
Funds” for 2024 and 2026 (raising total subscriptions of €40m and €130m
respectively) and 2027 (€30m so far, with the placement window still open);
RAM’s Sustainable Flexible Fund RAM (€100m); and RAM’s “Diversified
Alpha Fund” (€90m); there were also 24 issues of bonds and certificates, with
priority being given to structures offering high degrees of protection consistent
with the most recent market developments.

The product offering for Wealth Management has been enhanced with:

— New thematic portfolio management products (e.g. Asia excluding Japan,
Global Impact) to complete the range of portfolio management products
focused on specific areas/themes;

— Two further initiatives in luxury real estate investments as part of private
markets operations through the acquisition of two buildings: the first in Via
Turati 12, the second in Piazza Cordusio 1, both in Milan (€246m);

— Expansion of the “Multi-Manager” product range.
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— The first two exits from the investments made by The Equity Club, with
the PO of Philogen (a company operating in the biotech sector), and the
completion of the first round of investment in Jakala (media marketing),
which, as well as delivering positive performances for clients, enabled the
WM Division to collect carried interest as part of its proprietary investing
activities;

— Successful placement of Mediobanca BlackRock Co-Investments as soft
commitment (with investment in the first dedicated funds to start from 1Q

FY 2021-22).

There were developments also in digital payments with the launch of a new
strategic partnership between CheBanca! and Nexi, which expands the range
of payment cards offered to clients, providing them with access to new and
advanced services and features.

NNM reported by the division in the twelve months totalled €3.8bn,
representing incremental quarter-on-quarter growth (€424m in 1Q, €1.1bn
in 4Q) focused in AUM/AUA (€2.5bn, roughly half of which in 4Q). The two
networks’ contribution has grown in importance (NNM of €4.8bn, €3.4bn of
which AUM/AUA), and offset the institutional outflows in Asset Management. In
particular, the Affluent segment contributed €3.7bn (up 45% on last year), more
than half of which AUM/AUA (split equally between the proprietary network and
the FAs); while the Private Banking segment contributed €1.1bn (with a share
of AUM/AUA virtually unchanged), with a domestic component attributable to
MBPB of €824m (with inflows of AUM/AUA of €1.3bn and outflows of deposits
of €0.3bn). Asset Management saw some institutional outflows which totalled
€1.6bn (38% attributable to RAM, and 62% to Mediobanca SGR, in line with
the fund manager’s strategy to gradually exit the institutional segment), only in
part offset by Cairn Capital (which reported inflows of €626m, with the launch
of two new CLOs).

Total Financial Assets (TFAs) totalled €71.5bn; of these, €32.5bn (up
17.2% from last year) are attributable to the Affluent segment (€15.6bn in AUM/
AUA, up 25%), €29.9bn (up 13.4%) to Private Banking (€21.6bn in AUM/
AUA, up 21.1%) and €20.3bn in Asset Management. AUM/AUA (the higher
profitability products) increased from €39.8bn to €46.3bn (up 16.3%). The
Asset Management division’s products placed within the Group rose to €11.3bn
(from €9.6bn last year).
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Chg. %

Net TFAs 30/6/20 31/12/20 30/6/21 June 21/ June 20  June 21 / Dec 20
Affluent Banking 27,781 29,903 32,549 17.2% 8.8%
Private Banking 26,373 27,724 29,906 13.4% 7.9%
Asset Management 19,000 19,476 20,272 6.7% 4.1%
Intercompany (9,571) (10,481) (11,258) 17.6% 7.4%
Wealth Management 63,582 66,622 71,468 12.4% 7.3%
Chg. %
Deposits 30/6/20 31/12/20 30/6/21 June 21/ June 20  June 21 / Dec 20
Affluent Banking 15,277 15,983 16,920 10.8% 5.9%
Private Banking 8,531 8,642 8,296 -2.7% -4.0%
Asset Management — — — n.m. n.m.
Wealth Management 23,807 24,625 25,216 5.9% 2.4%
Chg. %

AUM/AUA 30/6/20 31/12/20 30/6/21 June 21/ June 20 June 21 / Dec 20
Affluent Banking 12,504 13,920 15,629 25.0% 12.3%
Private Banking 17,842 19,082 21,610 21.1% 13.2%
Asset Management 19,000 19.476 20,272 6.7% 4.1%
Intercompany (9,571) (10,481) (11,258) 17.6% 7.4%
Wealth Management 39,775 41,997 46,252 16.3% 10.1%
Net New Money 2019-2020 2020-2021

10 o mo vQ 10 o o VO
Affluent Banking 290 506 853 909 818 782 1,215 389
Private Banking 710 173 261 1,166 108 545 175 221
Asset Management (689) 295 (498) (739) (503) (131) (289) 2
Wealth Management 310 974 616 1,335 424 1,195 1,101 1,112

Customer loans in Wealth Management total €14.4bn (30/6/20: €13.2bn):
the mortgage loan component stood at €11.1bn, on new loans in the twelve
months of €2.2bn (in line with last year, i.e. unaffected by the public health
emergency); while in Private Banking customer loans increased from €2.9bn to
€3.3bn, on a growing contribution from CMB Monaco (up 15.9%, from €1.8bn
to €2.1bn) and MBPB (up 9%, from €1.1bn to €1.3bn).

Moratoria granted by this division regarded almost exclusively CheBanca!
customers, after the bank adhered to other initiatives apart from those granted by
law (the “Cura ltalia” and “Sostegni-Bis” decree laws), namely those promoted
by ABI and other private initiatives. The moratoria granted on mortgage loans
amount to €652.9m; of this amount, €210.6m is still outstanding (just under
one-third, representing only a minor share of the total loan book, approx. 2%),
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after €442.4m was paid off, most of which (82%) having resumed regular
repayments; moreover, 30% of the outstanding exposure has been prudentially
classified as Stage2. Only a negligible number of moratoria were granted in
Private Banking, to just three clients (involving a total of under €1m), and the
process was formally closed on 30 June 2021.

Gross non-performing loans increased from €211.9m to €226.1m (or 1.6%
of the total loan book), and chiefly regard CheBanca! mortgages (€210.5m, equal
to 1.9% of the stock); while net NPLs represent less than 1% of total loans
(€116.3m, €43.2m of which are bad loans), with the coverage ratio increasing
from 45.9% to 48.6% (63.9% for the bad loans). Mortgages classified as Stage2
increased from €618.5m to €835.1m (just under 8% of the total), this increase,
of almost one-third, is due to the reclassification of the moratoria which, in view
inter alia of the recent ECB recommendations, have been treated as high risk.

The Wealth Management division posted significant growth in revenues (up 7.5%,
from €583.8m to €627.3m), representing incremental quarter-on-quarter growth (with
revenues of €145.8m in 1Q and €163.4m in 4Q), with the fee component increasing
in size (from 52.4% to 53.5%) on the back of the increase in indirect funding.

(€m)

Revenues 12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg. %
30/6/21 30/6/20

Affluent 358.0 317.4 12.8%

Private Banking 202.1 186.7 8.2%

Asset Management 59.0 71.7 -17.7%

Other 8.2 8.0 2.5%

Total revenues 627.3 583.8 7.5%

The main income sources performed as follows:

— Net interest income for the twelve months rose by 3.7% (from €271m to
€281.1m), on a positive contribution from the Affluent segment (up 7.1%,
from €214.1m to €229.3m) driven by higher volumes in mortgages and
deposits, which offset the reduction in Private Banking (down 8.6%, from
€57.4m to €52.4m), which was widely anticipated in view of the further
reductions in market rates (in particular the dollar);

— Fee income rose by 9.7%, from €306.1m to €335.9m, on a superior
contribution from management fees (up 12%, from €332.1m to €372.1m), in
particular recurring fees (which make up approx. 89% of the total); the non-
recurring component was smaller (stable at €13.2m), and as from this year
includes fees credited back from coinvestment in private equity initiatives
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placed with clients (approx. €8m), as well as performance fees. The increase
was reflected at both the Affluent segment (up 24.2%, from €101.9m to
€126.6m) and in Private Banking (up 14.1%, from €124.1m to €141.6m),
offsetting the reduction in Asset Management (from €72.1m to €59.5m).

(€m)

Commissions - segment 12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg. %
30/6/21 30/6/20

Affluent 126.6 101.9 24.2%

Private Banking 141.6 124.1 14.1%

Asset Management 59.5 72.1 -17.5%

8.2 8.0 n.m.

Total commissions 335.9 306.1 9.7%

(€m)

Commissions - nature 12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg. %
30/6/21 30/6/20

Management fees 372.1 332.1 12.0%

- of which: upfront fees 41.8 33.5 24.8%

Performance Fees 13.2 13.2 n.m.

Negative fees (49.4) (39.2) 26.1%

Total commissions 335.9 306.1 9.7%

Operating costs increased from €450.8m to €471.5m (up 4.6%), on higher
labour costs (up 1.9%, from €236.5m to €241m) reflecting the reinforcement
of the commercial structure and the increase in the variable remuneration
component due to the excellent results posted by the distribution networks;
higher administrative expenses (which were up 7.6%, from €214.3m to €230.5m)
chiefly reflect the resumption of project-based activities, IT infrastructure
enhancement, plus the CheBanca! “Alza la tua visione” (“Raise your vision”)
advertising campaign; the reduction in costs in Asset Management (from €61.4m

to €57.7m) is linked to the RAM efficiency plan.

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg. %

30/6/21 30/6/20
Affluent Banking (267.8) (249.8) 7.2%
Private Banking (137.3) (131.1) 4.7%
Asset Management (57.7) (61.4) -6.0%
8.7 8.5 2.4%
Total costs (471.5) (450.8) 4.6%

Loan loss provisions, virtually all of which are attributable to CheBanca!

mortgage loans, decreased from €20.5m to €18.6m as a result of revision of

the macroeconomic scenarios, which would have led to higher writebacks if

much of these had not been offset to the more conservative approach adopted to

staging for the moratoria still outstanding (more than 90% have been classified

as Stage2 or Stage3), and recourse to overlays.
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CONSUMER BANKING

This division provides retail clients with the full range of consumer credit
products: personal and special-purpose loans, and salary-backed finance. The
division also includes Compass RE, which reinsures risks linked to insurance
policies sold to clients, Compass Rent, which operates in second-hand vehicle and
car hire, and the newly-incorporated Compass Link, which distributes Compass
products and services via external collaborators. Futuro was merged into Compass
Banca with effect in accounting terms from 1 July 2020.

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mihs ended Chg. (%)
30/6/21 30/6/20
Profit-and-loss
Net interest income 878.8 948.0 -7.3
Net fee and commission income 123.0 122.6 0.3
Total income 1,001.8 1,070.6 -6.4
Labour costs (104.2) (102.0) 2.2
Administrative expenses (210.0) (201.2) 4.4
Operating costs (314.2) (303.2) 3.6
Loan loss provisions (257.6) (324.7) -20.7
Other income (losses) (15.2) 4.7) n.m.
Profit before tax 414.8 438.0 -5.3
Income tax for the period (135.9) (141.4) -3.9
Net profit 278.9 296.6 -6.0
Cost/Income (%) 314 28.3
30/6/21 30/6/20
Balance-sheet data
Loans and advances to customers 12,942.9 13,037.4
- of which:
Personal loans 6,713.8 7.101.2
Salary-backed finance 1,775.8 1,983.6
New loans 6,460.4 6,380.8
Risk-weighted assets 11,779.2 11,800.8
ROAC 27% 27%
No. of staff 1,446 1,441
30/6/21 30/6/20
Commercial data
Branches Consumer 179 172
Agencies Consumer 52 41

56 | Consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2021



In a difficult market scenario, in which the consumer credit sector has been
strongly impacted by the pandemic emergency, with volumes and revenues
dropping as a result of the repeated lockdowns, Compass has confirmed its
position as a primary operator, with a top line in excess of €1bn and net profit of

€278.9m (ROAC 27%), on the back of its extensive franchise and established

capabilities in assessing and pricing risk.

The decrease in net profit, down 6% to €278.9m, reflects the trend in
revenues (which were down 6.4%), but was offset in part by the reduction in the
cost of risk and careful cost control (cost/income ratio stable at around 30%).
The lower profit also reflects provisions of €15m, being set aside to the provision
for risks and charges in connection with the “Lexitor” ruling, net of which the
reduction in net profit would have been just 1%.

The sharp reduction in new loans at the start of the pandemic led to a gradual
reduction in average volumes, which, along with the pressure on margins,
accounts for the performance in net interest income (down 7.3%, from €948m
to €878.8m), the reduced contribution from insurance products (from €61m to
€49m), largely offset by the reduced impact of rappel fees being charged back to
the distribution networks (down 40%). The trend in lending was reversed in 4Q,
however, with new loans returning in line with their pre-Covid average (€1.9bn).
The division’s effective cost of risk management was borne out in 4Q as well:
after the high recorded in 4Q) last year, the cost of risk has gradually decreased
to pre-Covid levels (CoR 198 bps), while the coverage ratios are at all-time
highs (NPLs: 75.8%; performing: 3.62%).

The Ttalian consumer credit market reflects a 23% increase in the first six
months of 2021, compared to the same period last year which was affected by
the strict lockdown imposed between the months of March and May 2020. The
most pronounced increases were in automotive finance (up 47%), personal loans
(up 31%), and special purpose non-automotive (up 30%); while the growth was
lower in salary-backed finance (26%) and credit cards (up 11%). Compass’s
market share has reached 10%, on the back of the outstanding results delivered
in special purpose loans (up 56%) and direct personal loans (up 54%), which
offset the difficulties in salary-backed finance.

New loans for the twelve months totalled €6.5bn, stable versus last year
due to an outstanding performance in 4 (€1.9bn, pre-Covid levels), with the
product mix which has seen a gradual increase in personal loans (which in 4Q
represented almost 50% of total new business).
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Commercial efforts continued despite the operating difficulties, with a
total of 18 new POS being opened in the twelve months (branch offices and
agencies, two of which in 4Q), bringing the total to 231 (52 of which agencies).
The positive trend in the online channel has continued, which now accounts for
approx. 25% of the personal loans granted by the direct channel (with 80% of
the applications processed in one day).

Various initiatives were launched during the twelve months, all of which
served to strengthen the direct distribution channels. These included:

— Consolidation of Compass’s market share in special purpose loans (rising
to approx. 20% by end-June 2021), this being the main channel by which
new clients are obtained, by strengthening commercial partnerships with
operators in the large-scale distribution sector (telephony and electronics
in particular), and in vehicle finance, as a result of the ongoing commercial
development promoted by the geographical network;

— Launch of the new “Pagolight” product, a proprietary solution for extensions
granted free of charge in real time at the POS;

— Commercial launch of a new company, Compass Rent, which offers long-
term hire solutions for second-hand vehicles readily available at car dealers.

The loan stock decreased slightly, from €13bn to €12.9bn, in particular in
personal loans (down 5.5%, to €6.7bn) and salary-backed finance (down 10.5%,
to €1.8bn); while automotive finance bucked this trend (up 18.7%, to €2.8bn),
as did other special purpose loans (up 12.5%, to €1.1bn).

Gross NPLs declined from €1,015.7m to €971.5m, due to the low rates of
default plus good credit recovery flows which enabled some positions to regain
performing status. Gross NPLs now represent 6.86% of total loans (7.18%), with
the coverage ratio increasing to 75.8% (68.1%), driving net NPLs down from
€324.2m to €235.4m, the lowest figure since the new definition of default was
adopted (in September 2019) and lower than at end-March 2020 (€290.6m),
i.e. pre-pandemic. Net bad loans fell to below €10m, with the coverage ratio
at 97.3% and the resumption of disposals, including the revolving share.
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Positions classified as Stage2 increased from €1,430.4m to €1,467.3m (11.2% of
the total), reflecting the effects of the new rating model which, for the lower risk
classes (special purpose loans, including automotive), has introduced increased
sensitivity to changes in PD; this mechanism, which has become necessary in
order to facilitate the transition to use of AIRB models, has resulted in approx.
€230m being reclassified as Stage2, with negligible effects through profit and
loss.

As previously mentioned, the difficulties encountered in generating new
business did not cause a reduction in the level of investments, with spending
continuing in order to strengthen the distribution structure and to improve
processes, including through technology upgrades. Accordingly, operating
costs grew by 3.6% (from €303.2m to €314.2m), following a modest increase in
labour costs (up €2.2m), a new advertising campaign via television and digital
channels, and higher credit recovery costs due to good performances in credit
recovery and extraordinary management of the moratoria granted.

Loan loss provisions were down over 20% in the twelve months, from
€324.7m to €257.6m, recovering from the highs recorded at end-March and
end-June 2020. The prudential level of the provisioning has been strengthened
still further, by complementing the traditional prudence shown in the treatment
of non-performing loans with €200m in overlays for performing items, thus
offsetting the potential writeback of funds deriving from the low rates of default
and the improvement in the macroeconomic scenario. The cost of risk returned
to pre-crisis levels, at 198 bps, without affecting the high coverage ratios for
non-performing loans (75.8%) and performing loans (3.62%).

During the year under review, in response to a ruling by the Court of Milan,
a total of €15m was set aside to the provision for risks and liabilities, to cover the
estimated contingent liability deriving from the refund of upfront costs incurred
by customers at the disbursement stage for loans repaid in advance, in line with
the commercial practice adopted before Bank of ltaly letter to the market issued

on 5th December 2019.
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CORPORATE E INVESTMENT BANKING

This division provides services to corporate customers in the following areas:

—  Wholesale Banking: lending, capital market activities and advisory services,
and trading, client and proprietary (performed by Mediobanca, Mediobanca
International, Mediobanca Securities and Messier et Associés);

—  Specialty Finance: factoring and credit management (including acquisition
and management of NPL portfolios), performed by MBFACTA, MBCredit
Solutions and MBContact Solutions.

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg. (%)
30/6/21 30/6/20
Profit-and-loss
Net interest income 286.9 271.4 5.7
Net treasury income 93.2 77.9 19.6
Net fee and commission income 318.1 225.8 40.9
Total income 698.2 575.1 21.4
Labour costs (165.4) (141.0) 17.3
Administrative expenses (141.3) (135.2) 4.5
Operating costs (306.7) (276.2) 11.0
Loan loss provisions 40.1 (20.0) n.m.
Provisions for other financial assets 2.2 (3.5) n.m.
Other income (losses) 0.5 — n.m.
Profit before tax 434.3 275.4 57.7
Income tax for the period (147.0) (92.4) 59.1
Minority interest (2.8) (2.3) 21.7
Net profit 284.5 180.7 57.4
Cost/Income (%) 43.9 48.0
30/6/21 30/6/20
Balance-sheet data
Loans and advances to customers 19,292.3 18,644.2
of which: Corporate 16,579.6 16,521.7
Factoring 2.328.7 1,763.7
Credit Management - NPLs 384.0 358.8
Corporate new loans 6,797.0 5,949.9
Factoring turnover 9,149.5 7,422.6
NPLs purchased 78.2 35.5
Risk-weighted assets 19,924.8 20,027.7
ROAC 16% 10%
No. of staff 635 630
Front Office Wholesale 300 302
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Corporate and Investment Banking delivered a strong improvement in net
profit for the twelve months, which totalled €284.5m,'® up 57.4%, on the back of an
outstanding performance in Investment Banking which helped drive revenues up
21.4% to €698.2m and keep the cost/income ratio down to 43.9%. The excellent
trend in Wholesale Banking (net profit of €268.2m) absorbed the reduction in
Specialty Finance (net profit of €16.3m, versus €25.4m), and allowed ROAC to
increase to 16%, the target set in the 2019-23 Strategic Plan.

The M&A market has reached record levels in the past twelve months, and
growth looks set to continue. The global M&A market more than doubled in the first
six months of 2021," driven by the United States (up 242%), with significant growth
in Europe as well (up 56%). This trend is also reflected in the main geographies
where Mediobanca is present, with growth of 80% in ltaly, 67% in France, and
54% in Spain. Against a backdrop of strong market growth, market Mediobanca has
strengthened its leadership position in the domestic market and in France (which
now generates some 40% of the Group’s advisory revenues). Hubert Preschez has
recently been appointed the new partner of Messier et Associés.

Mediobanca has exploited the market conditions, acting as advisor in the most
important deals announced on the Italian and French markets, some of which will be
concluded between now and year-end 2021. These include: supporting Atlantia in
the process to dispose of 88% of ASPI, and advising Enel on the sale of 50% of Open
Fiber. The twelve months were also notable for the intense activity levels in the
Mid-Corporate space, helped by the Bank’s capability to generate synergies between
the CIB and Private Banking divisions. Mediobanca has acted as financial advisor
in numerous disposals (Cantiere del Pardo, Arrigoni, MIR Healthcare, Poligof)
and in Clessidra’s acquisition of Casa Vinicola Botter. In addition, Mediobanca’s
indepth knowledge of the real estate market has enabled the Bank to complete two
club deals for properties in prestigious locations in Milan (Via Turati and Piazza
Cordusio). Various Mid-Corporate deals have also been announced in 4() that will
be concluded by the year-end.

Looking at the French market, in addition to the completion of the PSA/FCA
merger, the Bank is also involved in the merger between Veolia and Suez, and the
acquisition of Borsa Italiana by Euronext. Mediobanca has also taken a leading
role in three of the largest public tender offers announced on the ltalian stock
market, assisting Assicurazioni Generali in its takeover bid for Cattolica, Asterion
in its offer for Retelit, and Credito Valtellinese in the offer submitted for it by
Crédit Agricole Italy.

'8 The various contributions to net profit were as follows: Wholesale Banking €268.2m, of which Messier et Associés €13.1m; MBFACTA €16.1m,
and MBCredit Solutions €0.2m.

' An increase of 121.1% (source: Refinitiv, report on “Global Mergers & Acquisition Review — First Half 20217).
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In Capital Markets, Mediobanca acted as Global Co-ordinator in the [PO of Seco,
and, as testimony to its increasing role at international level, as Joint Bookrunner
in the capital increases of Cellnex, Euronext and SSP. In ltaly, France and Spain/
Portugal, the Bank has also taken leading roles in numerous bond issues (e.g. Inwit,

Euronext, Cellnex and Banco Santander), with growing expertise in the ESG segment
(Assicurazioni Generali, ADR, and EDP).

Loans and advances to customers increased from €18.6bn to €19.3bn, as a result
of the good contribution from factoring business (up from €1.8bn to €2.3bn) driven
by increased turnover (up 23.3%, to €9.1bn), and new acquisitions of NPLs (approx.
€80m, with a nominal amount of €700.8m) while corporate loans were basically
stable at €16.6bn (€16.5bn), reflecting the spike in early repayments (€2.4bn),
with new loans growing to €6.8bn (up 14.2%, mainly investment grade exposures
(approx. 22%) so as not to affect the quality of the portfolio.

30/6/21 30/6/20 Chg.

(€m) % (€m) %
Ttaly 10,797.6 56.0 10,215.6 54.8 5.7%
France 1,601.1 8.6 1,426.4 7.7 16.5%
Spain 1,267.3 6.6 1,011.8 5.4 25.2%
Germany 1,093.5 5.7 1,509.0 8.0 -27.5%
U.K. 1,429.4 74 1,257.5 6.7 13.7%
Other non resident 3,043.4 15.7 3,223.9 17.4 -5.6%
Total loans and advances to customers CIB 19,292.3 100.0 18,644.2 100 3.5%
- of which: Specialty Finance 2,712.7 14.1 2,122.6 11 27.8%

Asset quality remains high: gross NPLs (which decreased from €541.6m
to €225m) remain at the lowest levels seen in the past decade (1.2% of total
loans); while net NPLs total €103.8m (€316.4m), with a coverage ratio of 53.9%
(41.6%). As usual these figures do not include the NPLs acquired by MBCredit
Solutions (which rose slightly, from €358.6m to €383.7m).

The balance of exposures classified as Stage2 decreased from €739.4m to €631m
(3.3% of the total loan book). This reduction chiefly regards activity with Large
Corporates (down from €598m to €548.4m), where the performance was chiefly due to
repayments totalling €310.9m and reclassifications to Stagel in an amount of €35.3m,
which more than offset the reclassifications to Stage2 (€296.5m), chiefly involving
counterparties that have experienced a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) after
their individual ratings were downgraded. The coverage ratio for performing loans
has gradually increased (from 0.59% to 0.65%) as a result of the careful provisioning
policy adopted, which has mitigated the effects of the IFRS9 model’s application
via increased overlays, in the Large Corporate segment in particular, which together
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amount to €76m.2° With the macroeconomic scenario revision at end-June 2021, the
expected loss as calculated by the models fell significantly from the level estimated
at end-December 2020. However, it was decided on prudential grounds to neutralize
this effect by setting aside overlays of €56m, in addition to the approx. €20m to
increase the provisioning, again on prudential grounds, for all borrowers included in
the sectors hardest hit by Covid-19, or that have applied for waivers since the start of
the pandemic. Corporate lending was unaffected by the moratoria phenomenon (apart
from merely approx. €5m from factoring), but around forty requests for waivers have
been received, mainly for covenants to be advised. Nonetheless, certain positions
have been reclassified as Stage2 on prudential grounds (amounting to €373m, or
2.2% of the total performing loan book).

The revenues generated by the CIB division grew by 21.4% in the twelve
months, from €575.1m to €698.2m, the highest levels seen in the past five years,
and reflecting a balanced contribution quarter on quarter. The main income items
performed as follows:

— Net interest income rose from €271.4m to €286.9m, despite a lower
contribution from Specialty Finance (down 10.3%, from €79.4m to €71.2m),
due to the reduction in NPL activities, which was more than offset by the
higher NII reported by Wholesale Banking (up from €192m to €215.7m),
attributable to non-recurring income of approx. €8m in connection with the
Burgo restructuring, plus the increase posted by securities forming part of the
trading book, the majority of which serve to hedge the certificates issued;

— Fee income grew by 40.9%, from €225.8m to €318.1m: the increase was
attributable to all segments, but in particular the intense activity levels in
advisory business and the recovery in Equity Capital Market activities
(€41.4m); fees earned by Corporate Finance rose from €112.4m to €127.5m,
following the good performance in the Mid Corporate space (where fees
increased to €19m); excellent results were also posted by Messier et Associés,
which contributed fees of €50m (buoyed by some big tickets). The recovery in
acquisition finance is reflected in the higher fees earned by Lending (up from
€37.8m to €50.5m), while the increase reported by Specialty Finance (from
€34.6m to €48.1m) was driven by higher collections on NPLs;

— Net treasury income increased by 19.6%, from €77.9m to €93.2m, on a major
contribution from the proprietary portfolio (€37.4m) which offset the reduction
in client business (from €85.6m to €60.6m); the substantial liquidity on
markets favoured the kind of outright positions (in equity and fixed-income)
which is typical of proprietary trading desks, while limiting arbitrage trades
and structured products which are more typical of client trading.

20 This figure also comprises debt securities and on- and off-balance-sheet positions.
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Revenues 12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg. (%)

30/6/21 30/6/20
Capital Market 62.5 229 n.m.
Lending 213.9 191.0 12.0%
Advisory M&A 127.5 112.4 13.5%
Trading Prop 60.1 11.3 n.m.
Market, sales and other gains 114.8 123.6 -7.1%
Specialty Finance 119.3 113.9 4.8%
Total Revenues 698.2 575.1 21.4%

12 mths ended 12 mths ended
C issi 30/6/21 30/6/20 Chg. (%)
Capital Market, Sales and other gains 92.0 41.0 n.m.
Lending 50.5 37.8 33.6%
Advisory M&A 127.5 112.4 13.5%
Specialty Finance 48.1 34.6 39.1%
Total Cc issions 318.1 225.8 40.9%

The increase in operating costs (up 11%, from €276.2m to €306.7m) chiefly
involves higher labour costs (up 17.3%, from €141m to €165.4m), to align the
investment banking bonus pool with the positive performance in revenues;
the increase in administrative costs was limited (up 4.5%, from €135.2m to
€141.3m), given that the increases related to the resumption of project-based
activities (after these were halted brusquely in spring 2020) was offset by the
savings on travel- and entertainment-related expenses.

The netresultin terms of writebacks credited at the year-end (€40.1m) represents the
difference between writebacks of €78.2 posted in Wholesale Banking, and writedowns
of €38.1m charged in Specialty Finance (compared with €24.5m) in relation to NPL
business, due to the higher extra collections, plus extraordinary adjustments to certain
specific portfolios worst affected by Covid-19. The good performance in Wholesale
Banking was largely due to the writeback credited in respect of the Burgo exposure
(€110m), coupled with the improved macroeconomic scenario given the quality of
the loan book (which has been preserved in the twelve months under review), also
allowing substantial overlays to be set aside (€90m, €60m of which in 4Q), offsetting
the writebacks released in connection with the improvement in the scenario).

12 mths ended 12 mths ended

30/6/21 30/6/20

CIB loans 78.2 4.5
Specialty Finance loans (38.1) (24.5)
Other financial assets 2.2 (3.5)
Total provisions 42.3 (23.5)
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PRINCIPAL INVESTING

The Principal Investing (PI) division administers the Group’s portfolio
of equity investments and holdings, including the stake in Assicurazioni
Generali in particular.

(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg. (%)
30/6/21 30/6/20
Profit-and-loss
Other incomes 23.6 8.5 n.m.
Equity-accounted companies 271.7 304.3 -10.7
Total income 295.3 312.8 -5.6
Labour costs (3.6) (3.3) 9.1
Administrative expenses (1.0) (1.0) n.m.
Operating costs 4.6) 4.3) 7.0
Net loss provisions 51.8 (10.9) n.m.
Profit before tax 342.5 297.6 15.1
Income tax for the period (33.9) (2.6) n.m.
Net profit 308.6 295.0 4.6
30/6/21 30/6/20
Balance-sheet data
Banking book equity securities 744.2 673.9
TAS28 investments 3,702.8 3,204.6
Risk-weighted assets 7,246.0 8,121.9

The Principal Investing division posted a net profit for the twelve months
of €308.6m, up 4.6% on last year: the reduced contribution from the equity
method, which totalled €271.7m (€304.3m), was offset by the positive
performance in terms of the valuation of holdings in funds, which contributed
€51.8m to earnings, comfortably offsetting the €10.9m net writedowns charged
last year. The result also includes dividends from shares, plus €30.7m in
income from funds (twice the amount collected last year).
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The book value of the Assicurazioni Generali investment increased from
€3,163.4m to €3,663.1m, after net profits totalling €273.4m and an increase of
€431.2m in the valuation reserve, comfortably offsetting the reduction in the
dividend collected (€204m). The equity method contribution from the investee
company decreased by 10%, reflecting the unfavourable comparison base with
last year (which was boosted by certain contingent assets, such as the proceeds
from the disposal of Generali Leben), plus several non-recurring items this
year (including the settlement with BTG Pactual over the sale of BSI). The
earnings performance of Assicurazioni Generali in the first quarter of the its
2021 financial year was outstanding, and is reflected in the PI division’s result
for 4Q (€103.2m).

The book value of the IEO investment (25.4%) fell from €41.3m to €39.7m,
reflecting the Group’s pro rata share in the loss incurred by the company
(€1.7m).

As at 30 June 2021, the stock market value of the Group’s investment
in Assicurazioni Generali was €3,426.9m, lower than its book value despite
having recovered from last year. However, the asset passed the impairment
test by using the value in use, calculated in accordance with Group policy,
which is higher than the book value. Reference is made to the Notes to the
Consolidated Balance Sheet, Part B — Assets, Section 7 — Equity investments
for further details.

As for other securities, there was an increase in the equity component (from
€139.1m to €219m), as a result of new investments (worth approx. €12m) and
the increase in fair value (up €68m) taken directly to the net equity reserve,
which regards exclusively the new valuation of the Burgo equity instrument
(€55m). Holdings in funds decreased from €534.8m to €525.2m, after net
divestments of €60.1m only in part offset by the positive value adjustments
referred to above (adding €51.8m).
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HOLDING FUNCTIONS (STRUTTURE CENTRALI, TESORERIA E LEASING)

The Holding Functions comprises SelmaBipiemme Leasing, MIS, Spafid
Connect” and Ricerche e Studi,? Group Treasury and ALM (with the aim of
optimizing funding and liquidity management on a consolidated basis, including the
securities held as part of the banking book?), and the part of costs relating to central
Group functions not allocated to the business lines, including operations, support
units (Planning and Financial Reporting, Corporate Affairs, Investor Relations,
etc.), senior management and the control units (Risk Management, Group Audit and

Compliance).
(€m)
12 mths ended 12 mths ended Chg. (%)
30/6/21 30/6/20
Profit-and-loss
Net interest income (47.4) (55.0) 13.8
Net trading income 57.5 37.5 n.m.
Net fee and commission income 11.8 10.6 11.3
Total income 21.9 (6.9) n.m.
Labour costs (121.1) (116.5) 3.9
Administrative expenses (39.0) (56.3) -30.7
Operating costs (160.1) (172.8) -7.3
Loan loss provisions (12.7) 9.7) 30.9
Provisions for other financial assets (7.5) (5.6) n.m.
Other income (losses) (73.5) (64.3) 14.3
Profit before tax (231.9) (259.3) 10.6
Income tax for the period 67.5 76.3 -11.5
Minority interest (1.7) 0.7) n.m.
Net profit (166.1) (183.7) -9.6
30/6/21 30/6/20
Balance-sheet data
Loans and advances to customers 1,774.1 1,819.9
Banking book securities 6,120.0 5,611.5
No. of staff* 792 817
Risk-weighted assets 2,992.3 3,128.4

The net loss posted by the Holding Functions division decreased from €183.7m
to €166.1m, due to higher income from management of the banking book securities
(which almost doubled, to €57.5m), made up of gains realized on disposal (€47.9m)

and trading positions to hedge operations without affecting the valuation reserve

' Advanced negotiations are in progress for the disposal of the business unit providing corporate services (shareholder registers and AGM
service management); the activities of the business unit concerned have therefore been reclassified as “Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations” under IFRS5.

# The company was closed in July 2021 and was removed from the Companies’ Register on 30 July 2021.
# Group Treasury finances the individual business areas’ operations, applying the funds transfer pricing (FTP) rate based on the relevant curves,
with spreads varying depending on the expiries agreed for the respective use of funds.

2! The 792 staff are divided as follows: 104 in Selmabipiemme Leasing (30/6/20: 119) and 7 in the other non-core companies; 32 in group Treasury
and ALM; 130 at MIS (30/6/20: 127), 205 in operations (30/6/20: 209), 164 in support functions (30/6/20: 171), 143 in control functions
(30/6/20: 145) and 7 in management (senior and their assistants), with the cost of approximately 233 FTE (30/6/20: 224) charged
back to the business lines.
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which remains comfortably in positive territory (at over €73m). The improvement
was helped also by the reduction in net interest expense (from €92.1m to €83.3m)
and the decrease in overheads, which totalled €160.1m (€172.8m), reflecting the
reduced contribution of central costs which now account for 8% of the Group’s
total spending. Conversely, writedowns to customer loans and other financial assets
increased, from €15.3m to €20.2m, due to a more prudent classification of leases
(CoR 72 bps, vs 51 bps), plus adaptation of the IFRS9 model used for the banking
book securities (down €7.5m).

The main segments performed as follows:

—  Treasury management: liquidity and funding optimization continues, with the
increase in deposits, efficient access to the debt security market, plus the increased
recourse to the facilities (up from €5.7bn to €7.5bn), the full conversion to the
T-LTRO III programme now complete which serves the dual purpose of stabilizing
both the liquidity indicators at more prudent levels (LCR 158%, NSFR 116%,
calculated in accordance with the new regulatory methodologies), and the cost of
funding at last year’s levels (spread 80 bps), despite the reduction in benchmark
rates (down approx. 20 bps in the twelve months). As previously mentioned, this
translates to an improvement in net interest expense, which reduced from €92.1m
to €83.3m, with a higher contribution from the T-LTRO premium of approx. €26m,
which offset entirely the reduced contribution from the portfolio of securities held
as part of the banking book (down from €69m to €48m);

—  Leasing: net profit of €2.5m, higher than last year’s result (€1m) which incorporated
the cost of a major staff incentivization scheme (€4.5m). Revenues totalled
€39.5m, due to the higher profitability of the lease book (fees up 71.4%). The
reduction in costs was more pronounced (down 11.3%, from €23m to €20.4m),
due to the lower labour cost component (which decreased from €12.3m to €11.6m,
due to the efficiency measures referred to above) and lower IT and consultancy
expenses. As mentioned previously, loan loss provisions increased from €9.7m
to €12.9m, due to the prudent stance on moratoria adopted (which account for
approx. one-third of the lease book), most of which are classified as Stage2,
entailing an increase in the provisioning (from 0.70% to 0.91%). Customer leases
fell slightly (from €1,819.9m to €1,774.1m). Gross NPLs decreased from €185m
to €174.5m, and account for 9.4% of the total (9.8%); while net NPLs totalled
€104.7m, representing 5.9% of the total, with a coverage ratio of 40%. The share
accounted for by leases classified as Stage2 increased from €122.1m to €337.7m,
chiefly due to the reclassification of the moratoria extended under the “Sostegni-
bis” decree (€144m).
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The financial highlights for the other Group companies in the twelve months

under review are shown below:

(€m)
Company Percentage Business Line Total assets Loans and  Total net  No. of
shareholding advances to equity ! staff
customers
Corporate and
Mediobanca Securities (data in USDm) 100% Investment Banking 7.0 — 5.9 4
Corporate and
Mediobanca Funding Luxembourg 100% Investment Banking 11.0 10.0 0.9 —
Corporate and
Messier et Associés S.C.A. * 100% Investment Banking 49.1 — 30.1 35
Messier et Associés L.L.C. Corporate and
(data in USDm) * 100%  Investment Banking 0.2 — (1.8) 3
Corporate and
Investment Banking /
Mediobanca International 100% Holding Functions 7,128.5 5,185.6 336.1 18
Corporate and
MBFACTA 100% Investment Banking 2,420.8 2,331.8 183.6 38
Corporate and
MBCredit Solutions 100% Investment Banking 436.9 384.0 163.6 218
Corporate and
MB Contact Solutions 100% Investment Banking 0.9 — 0.4 2
Compass Banca 100%  Consumer Banking 14,363.8 12,9429 23934 1,442
Quarzo S.r.l. 90%  Consumer Banking 0.1 — — —
Quarzo CQS S.r.l. 90%  Consumer Banking 0.1 — — —
Compass RE 100%  Consumer Banking 352.2 52.0 182.6 1
Compass Rent 100%  Consumer Banking 1.7 — 1.1 4
Compass Link 100%  Consumer Banking 0.5 — 0.5 —
CheBanca! 100% Wealth Management 20,019.5 11,062.8 840.5 1,459
Mediobanca Covered Bond 90%  Wealth Management 0.7 — 0.1 —
CMB Monaco 100% Wealth Management 5,824.9 2,091.3 900.6 238
Spafid 100% Wealth Management 52.8 — 43.7 51
Spafid Family Office SIM 100% Wealth Management 1.1 — 0.7 3
Cairn Capital Group Limited
(data in GBPm) * 100%  Wealth Management 39.5 — 29.8 42
RAM Active Investments (data in CHFm) * 98,3% Wealth Management 27.2 — 25.4 29
RAM Active Investments (Luxembourg)
(data in CHFm) 100% Wealth Management 6.8 — 3.8 6
Compagnie Monégasque de Gestion 100% Wealth Management 5.2 — 1.5 9
Spafid Trust S.r.I. 100% Wealth Management 1.4 — 1.3 3
Mediobanca SGR S.p.A. 100% Wealth Management 51.6 — 43.3 51
Mediobanca Management Company S.A. 100% Wealth Management 12.1 — 8.9 6
Mediobanca International Immobiliere 100%  Holding Functions 1.9 — 2.0 —
SelmaBipiemme Leasing 60%  Holding Functions 1,899.8 1.774.1 218.3 104
Mediobanca Innovation Services 100%  Holding Functions 93.3 — 35.1 128
Ricerche e Studi (under liquidation) 100%  Holding Functions 0.1 —_ — —_
Spafid Connect 100%  Holding Functions 8.2 — 6.5 6

! Includes profit for the period.

* Taking into account the put and call option; see Part A1 — section 3 — Area and methods of consolidation, p. 113.
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(€m)

Company Percentage Business Line Total Operating Loss Gain/(loss)
shareholding income costs provisions for the
period
Corporate and
Mediobanca Securities (data in USDm) 100%  Investment Banking 2.9 (2.8) — 0.1
Corporate and
Mediobanca Funding Luxembourg 100%  Investment Banking 0.5 0.5) — —
Corporate and
Messier et Associés S.C.A. * 100%  Investment Banking 50.0 (25.5) — 19.0
Messier et Associés L.L.C. Corporate and
(data in USDm) * 100%  Investment Banking — 0.1) — 0.1)
Corporate and
Investment Banking /
Mediobanca International 100% Holding Functions 23.1 (10.0) (2.6) 5.3
Corporate and
MBFACTA 100%  Investment Banking 47.9 9.9 (12.8) 17.1
Corporate and
MBCredit Solutions 100%  Investment Banking 71.7 (47.0) (23.9) 0.3
Corporate and
MB Contact Solutions 100%  Investment Banking 0.3 0.4) — 0.1)
Compass Banca 100%  Consumer Banking 1,012.7  (3152) (257.5) 302.2
Quarzo S.r.l. 90% Consumer Banking — — — —
Quarzo CQS S.r.1. 90% Consumer Banking — — — —
Compass RE 100% Consumer Banking 38.6 (1.0) — 27.6
Compass Rent 100% Consumer Banking — (1.2) — (0.9
Compass Link 100% Consumer Banking — — — —
CheBanca! 100%  Wealth Management 3579  (267.9) (22.6) 32.9
Mediobanca Covered Bond 90%  Wealth Management 0.1 0.1) — —
CMB Monaco 100%  Wealth Management 105.4 (71.2) 0.5) 28.7
Spafid 100%  Wealth Management 9.1 (11.8) — (2.9)
Spafid Family Office SIM 100%  Wealth Management 1.1 (1.5) — 0.3)
Cairn Capital Group Limited
(data in GBPm) * 100%  Wealth Management 19.0 (21.1) — (1.9)
RAM Active Investments
(data in CHFm) * 98,3%  Wealth Management 11.5 (13.2) — 1.9
RAM Active Investments (Luxembourg)
(data in CHFm) 100%  Wealth Management 1.8 (2.0) — 0.4)
Compagnie Monégasque de Gestion 100%  Wealth Management 5.6 (3.2) — 1.7
Spafid Trust S.r.I. 100%  Wealth Management 0.7 0.8) — 0.1)
Mediobanca SGR S.p.A. 100%  Wealth Management 24.6 (14.8) — 6.5
Mediobanca Management Company S.A. 100%  Wealth Management 3.2 (2.2) — 0.8
Mediobanca International Immobiliere 100% Holding Functions 0.2 0.1) — 0.1
SelmaBipiemme Leasing 60% Holding Functions 39.5 (20.4) (12.9) 4.1
Mediobanca Innovation Services 100% Holding Functions — 0.1) — —
Ricerche e Studi (under liquidation) 100% Holding Functions 1.3 (1.2) — —
Spafid Connect 100% Holding Functions 2.5 (3.0) — (0.5)

* Taking into account the put and call option; see Part A1 — section 3 — Area and methods of consolidation, p. 113.
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Finally, it should be noted that:

— CMB Monaco closed its local financial statements for the twelve months
ended 31 December 2020 with a net profit of €14.4m higher than the
previous year (31/12/19: €13.3m), following reversals from the provisions
for risks totalling €4.5m (€2.3m last year), offsetting the lower gains on
the proprietary portfolio of €1.4m (€4.1m). A good performance in fee
income (up 8%, from €61.1m to €66.1m) and net interest income (up 2%,
from €43.2m to €44m) despite the reduction in market interest rates, was,
however, more than offset by 7% increase in costs (from €66.1m to €71m),
due to major investments in connection with the strategic repositioning
process (new recruits and upgrades to the IT platform). Client activity
intensified in the twelve months, with customer loans rising from €1,633m
to €2,064m on TFAs stable at €11.4bn, €4.3bn were deposits, up approx.
€300m, covering the reduction in net AUM/AUA due to the more prudent
stance being adopted by clients pending more stable market prospects.

Other information

Related party disclosure

Financial accounts outstanding as at 30 June 2021 between companies
forming part of the Mediobanca Group and related parties, and transactions
undertaken between such parties during the financial year, are illustrated in
Part H of the Notes to the Accounts, along with all the information required in
terms of transparency pursuant to Consob resolution no. 17221 issued on 12
March 2010 (amended most recently by resolution no. 21264 of 10 December
2020). All such accounts form part of Group companies’ ordinary operations, are
maintained on an arm’s length basis, and are entered into solely in the interests
of the companies concerned. No atypical or irregular transactions have been
entered into with such counterparties.
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Article 15 of Consob’s market regulations

With reference to Article 15 (previously Article 36) of Consob resolution
16191/07 (Market Regulations) on the subject of prerequisites for listing in
respect of parent companies incorporated or regulated by the laws of EU member
states and relevant to the preparation of the consolidated accounts, CMB Monaco
is the only Group company affected by this provision, and adequate procedures
have been adopted to ensure full compliance with it.

Principal risks facing the Group

In addition to the customary information on financial risks (credit, market,
liquidity and operational risks), the notes to the accounts contain to description of
the other risks to which the Group is exposed in the course of its business, as they
emerged from the ICA AP self-assessment process now required by the regulations
in force.

In particular, this involves concentration risk versus Italian groups in the
Group’s corporate activities, financial risk on the banking book (primarily interest
rate risk), strategic or business risk, risk deriving from exposure to volatility on
financial markets for the equities held in the HTCS portfolio, and exposure to
sovereign debt.

Consolidated Non-Financial Statement

The Group publishes a Consolidated Non-Financial Statement which
is drawn up in accordance with Article 4 of ltalian Legislative Decree
254/16, and contains information on environmental and social issues, human
resources, protection of human rights and anti-corruption measures, in order
to facilitate understanding of the Group’s activities, performance, results and
impact generated.
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The Group’s consolidated non-financial statement is published annually on the
Bank’s website at www.mediobanca.com (in the section entitled “Sustainability”), and
is drawn up in accordance with the provisions of Italian Legislative Decree 254/16
and with the core option of the Global Reporting Initiative Sustainability Reporting
Standards (the “GRI Standards”) published in 2016 by the Global Reporting Initiatives
(GRI), which are currently the most widely used and internationally recognized
standards in non-financial reporting. Besides, as from the Consolidated Non-Financial
Statement for FY 2021-22, the standards developed by the Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board (“SASB”) have also been taken into consideration, where applicable,
and a first self-assessment has been made in connection with the recommendations
made by the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD).

Research

Economic research is carried on by the Mediobanca Research Area, which
has now absorbed the activities of R&S S.p.A. (which has been placed in
liquidation). The Research Area’s catalogue includes the customary publications
which have been produced for many years now (“Leading Italian Companies”,
“Financial Aggregates of Italian Companies”, “Medium-Sized Industrial
Companies”), plus a series of industrial economic reports on the sectors in
which the Italian market is most involved internationally.

Rating

In March 2021 S&P Global Ratings —following a bank-specific review — upgraded
the Outlook assigned to Mediobanca from Negative to Stable. The BBB rating remains
unchanged, however, as it is aligned to the rating for the Italian Republic. At the
current rating level, despite the ongoing macro uncertainties, and although the trend
in economic risk for the Italian banking system remains negative, S&P believes that
Mediobanca’s more diversified business model, prudent risk management, and solid
capitalization should provide sufficient buffers to cushion the Bank’s creditworthiness
against the residual impacts of the pandemic-induced crisis.

In May 2021 Moody’s, as part of a sector review, has upgraded the Outlook
assigned to Mediobanca from Negative to Stable, confirming the Bank’s long-
term rating at Baal and its short-term rating at P-2. The rating action reflects
Mediobanca’s high capitalization, profitability and diversification.
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There have been no changes in the rating assigned to Mediobanca by Fitch
from the situation at 31 December 2020: long-term rating BBB-, rating for long-
term deposits BBB and for short-term debt F3, with stable outlook.

Other reports

The following documents are also available on the Bank’s website at
www.mediobanca.com (section “Governance”): the Annual Statement on Corporate
Governance and Ownership Structure and the Report on Remuneration and
Compensation Paid as required by Article 123-bis of Italian Legislative Decree 58/98
(the “Italian Finance Act”), plus the Basel 111 (Pillar3) Disclosure to the Public.

Outlook

The good progress being made in the vaccination programme offers grounds
for optimism that the improvement in the macroeconomic scenario will continue,
despite the upturn in infections and inflationary pressures.

In this scenario, recoveries are expected in lending volumes, in Consumer
Banking and Corporate Lending, and in AUM, which should drive an increase in
revenues. The increase is likely to be concentrated in net interest income, which
looks set to grow again, driven by Consumer Banking and the contribution from
the equity-accounted companies, due to the good performance by Assicurazioni
Generali, as confirmed by the most recent estimates. Conversely, growth in fees
is unlikely to be as strong as this year, where the expectation is that much of the
growth in Wealth Management will be offset by likely difficulties in Corporate
and Investment Banking, in part because of this year’s outstanding performance
in Investment Banking which will be hard to match in the absence of big tickets
(which in turn are hard to predict). Net treasury income looks set to fall, despite
stronger client activity, which is unlikely to be sufficient to offset the reductions
in Holding Functions and Principal Investing after the outstanding results posted
this year. The cost/income ratio is expected to stabilize in the 47%, despite the
large-scale reduction in project activity and the inevitable increase in travel and
entertainment expenses (at all-time low levels during the pandemic).

The cost of risk should remain at low levels, in view of the risk indicators in

Consumer Banking which are still very good, and the substantial overlays set aside to
cushion any sudden changes in the risk profile in the course of the new financial year.
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Reconciliation of shareholders’ equity and net profit

(€'000)
Shareholders’ equity Net profit (loss)
Balance at 30/06 as per Mediobanca S.p.A. accounts 4,828,210 583,560
Net surplus over book value for consolidated companies 14,822 439,038
Differences on exchange rates originating from conversion of accounts
made up in currencies other than the Euro 912 —
Other adjustments and restatements on consolidation, including the
effects of accounting for companies on an equity basis 5,361,345 (215,022)
Dividends received during the period — —
Total 10,205,289 807,576

Milan, 23 September 2021
THE BOARD 0OF DIRECTORS
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DECLARATION BY HEAD
OF COMPANY FINANCIAL REPORTING



DECLARATION IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as required by Article 81-zer of Consob resolution no. 11971
issued on 14 May 1999 as amended

1. The undersigned Alberto Nagel and Emanuele Flappini, in their respective
capacities as Chief Executive Officer and Head of Company Financial
Reporting of Mediobanca, hereby declare, and in view inter alia of the
provisions contained in Article 154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 4, of Italian
Legislative Decree 58/98, that the administrative and accounting procedures
used in the preparation of the interim financial statements:

— were adequate in view of the company’s characteristics;
— were effectively applied in the year ended 30 June 2021.

2. Assessment of the adequacy of said administrative and accounting
procedures for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as at
30 June 2021 was based on a model defined by Mediobanca in accordance
with benchmark standards for internal control systems which are widely
accepted at international level (CoSO and CobiT frameworks).

3. It is further hereby declared that
3.1 the consolidated financial statements:

— has been drawn up in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union pursuant to EC
regulation no. 1606/02 issued by the European Parliament and Council
on 19 July 2002;

— corresponds to the data recorded in the company’s books and account
ledgers;

— is adequate for the purpose of providing a truthful and accurate
representation of the capital, earnings and financial situation of the issuer
and the group of companies included within its area of consolidation.

3.2 the review of operations contains reliable analysis of the Group’s
operating performance and results, and of the situation of Mediobanca

S.p.A. and the group of companies comprised within its area of

consolidation, along with a description of the main risks and

uncertainties to which they are exposed.

Milan, 23 September 2021

Chief Executive Officer Head of Company Financial Reporting
Alberto Nagel Emanuele Flappini
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Independent auditor’s report
in accordance with article 14 of Legislative Decree No. 39 of 27 January 2010 and article 10 of
Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014

To the Shareholders of
Mediobanca SpA

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Mediobanca Group (the “Group”), which
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of 30 June 2021, the consolidated profit and loss account,
the consolidated comprehensive profit and loss account, the statement of changes to consolidated net
equity, the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the accounts,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group as of 30 June 2021, and of the result of its operations and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European
Union, as well as with the regulations issued to implement article 9 of Legislative Decree No. 38/05
and article 43 of Legislative Decree No. 136/15.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia).

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of this report. We are independent of
Mediobanca SpA (the “Company”) pursuant to the regulations and standards on ethics and
independence applicable to audits of financial statements under Italian law. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA
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Tel. 071 2132311 - Bari 70122 Via Abate Gimma 72 Tel. 080 5640211 - Bergamo 24121 Largo Belotti 5 Tel. 035 220691 - Bologna 40126 Via
Angelo Finelli 8 Tel. 051 6186211 - Brescia 25121 Viale Duca d’Aosta 28 Tel. 030 3697501 - Catania 95129 Corso Italia 302 Tel. 095 7532311 -
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Key Audit Matters

Auditing procedures performed in
response to key audit matters

Recoverable amount of intangible assets
with an indefinite useful life arising from
business combinations

Notes to the accounts:

Part A- Accounting policies, A.2 Significant
accounting policies — Intangible assets

Part B — Notes to the consolidated balance sheet,
Section 10 Intangible assets — Heading 100
Part C — Notes to the consolidated profit and loss
account, Section 19 Impairment charges to
gooduwill — Heading 270

As at 30 June 2021 the carrying amount of
intangible assets with an indefinite useful life
arising from business combinations amounted to
Euro 683.2 million, Euro 602.4 million of which
relating to goodwill and Euro 80.8 million related
to brands.

During the financial year, impairments were

charged for Euro 62.5 million of which:

- Euro 18.6 million following the partial
impairment of the carrying amount of
goodwill arising from the acquisition of
the subsidiary RAM Active Investments
S.A.;

- Euro 41 million following the partial
impairment of the carrying amount of
goodwill arising from the acquisition of
the subsidiary Messier et Associés S.C.A.;

- Euro 2.9 million following the partial
impairment of the carrying amount of
goodwill relating to the Spafid- Servizi
Fiduciari CGU.

The directors are required to assess the
recoverable amount of intangible assets with an
indefinite useful life at least once a year through
an impairment test. In accordance with IAS 36
this assessment is based on the comparison
between the carrying amount and the higher of
the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use
of each cash generating unit (“CGU”) to which
these intangible assets are allocated.

In performing our audit, we considered
internal control relevant to financial
reporting, in order to define appropriate
auditing procedures.

Specifically, the following activities were

performed also with the support of experts of

the PwC network:

e Understanding and evaluation of the
process and methodology adopted by the
directors to carry out the impairment
tests of the CGUs;

e Verification that the valuation methods
adopted were in line with the
requirements of IAS 36 “Impairment of
assets”, taking account of the market
practice, the distinctive characteristics of
each CGU, as well as the communications
from the Supervisory Authorities issued
following the Covid-19 pandemic;

e Verification of the scope of the CGUs
tested for impairment and, on a sample
basis:

- Comparison of the forecast data
prepared during the previous year
with the actual data of the current
year in relation to each CGU, in order
to verify the reasonableness of the
directors’ assumptions;

- Assessment of the reasonableness of
the future projections adopted by the
directors, taking account of the
uncertainty linked to the Covid-19
health emergency;

- Assessment of the reasonableness,
also by way of a comparison with
external data, where available, of the
main quantitative assumptions (cost
of capital, discount and growth rates,
royalty rates) determined by the
directors also with the support of
independent third-party experts, and
used to performed impairment tests;

- Verification of the accuracy of the
mathematical calculations behind the
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The recoverable amount of each CGU was
estimated by the directors also with the support of
independent third-party experts, by applying the
Dividend Discount Model methodology, with
excess capital version for capital-intensive CGUs,
as well as according to the “royalty relief” method
for brands.

These valuation methods, which are consolidated
and acknowledged by the prevailing practice,
require the use of information, parameters and
assumptions that result in a high degree of
complexity of the estimation processes, with
particular reference to the expected future cash
flows.

Again, for the year ended 30 June 2021, the
estimation process proved to be still complex
considering the persisting uncertainty of the
macro-economic scenario due to the Covid-19
pandemic; when deemed necessary, the directors
have therefore adjusted their estimates of the
cash flows projections.

For the reasons set out above, we considered the
recoverable amount of intangible assets with an
indefinite useful life arising from business
combinations as a key audit matter for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of
Mediobanca Group as at 30 June 2021.

evaluation models used and the
correctness of the calculations;

- Assessment of the results of the
sensitivity analyses carried out by the
directors on the main quantitative
parameters;

. Verification of the appropriateness and
completeness of disclosures provided by
the directors in the notes to the
accounts as required by the
International Financial Reporting
Standards and the applicable regulatory
framework, as well as the
communications from the Supervisory
Authorities issued in the aftermath of
the Covid-19 pandemic.

Valuation of loans to customers measured
at amortized cost

Notes to the accounts:

Part A — Accounting policies

Part B — Notes to the consolidated balance sheet,
Assets, Section 4

Part C — Notes to the consolidated profit and loss
account, Section 8

Part E — Information on risks and related
hedging policies — 1.1 Credit risk

As of 30 June 2021 loans to customers were equal
to Euro 48,924 million, corresponding to 95 per
cent of line item “40 b) Financial assets at
amortized cost — due from customers”, equal to
Euro 51,275 million and corresponding to 59 per
cent of total assets in the consolidated financial
statements.

In performing our audit we considered
internal control relevant to financial
reporting. In order to define auditing
procedures appropriate to the circumstances,
we took account of the changes and
adaptations required by the ongoing
uncertainties of the macro-economic scenario
due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

In order to address this key audit matter, the
following main activities were performed also
with the support of experts of the PwC
network:

e  Analysis of the adequacy of the IT
environment and test of the operating
effectiveness of relevant controls over the
IT systems and software applications
used for the valuation of loans;
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Net losses on loans to customers charged in the
year amounted to Euro 264.5 million and
represent the directors’ best estimate in order to
reflect the expected losses on the loan portfolio at
the reporting date on the basis of the accounting
standards.

Estimation processes require significant
assumptions, aside from the verification of the
SICR (Significant Increase in Credit Risk) and the
allocation of the portfolios to the various risk
stages (Staging), also when determining the
hypotheses and inputs to the ECL (Expected
Credit Loss) models and, in relation to assets
measured individually (Stage 3), when estimating
the expected future cash flows, the timing of those
cash flows, and the realisable value of any
collateral.

During the current year these estimation
processes proved to be far more complex to take
account of the uncertainties due to the persisting
macro-economic scenario affected by the Covid-
19 pandemic, as well as the consequent
government measures to support the economy,
including in particular payment moratoria and
the provision or renegotiation of loans against
public collaterals.

These circumstances required, as also pointed out
in the communications from the Supervisory
Authorities and standard setters, the update of
the processes and methods to measure loans, with
particular reference to the SICR determination
and, and the determination of the main variables
and estimation parameters of the ECL (macro-
economic variables, probability of default),
including adjustments to the estimation models to
incorporate the uncertainties due to the evolution
of the current pandemic context.

In view of the significance of the carrying value
and of the complexity of processes and methods
adopted, we considered the valuation of loans to
customers as a key audit matter for the
consolidated financial statements at 30 June
2021.

e  Understanding and evaluation of the
design of relevant controls over the
monitoring, classification and
measurement of loans to customers and
tests of operating effectiveness of those
controls;

e  Understanding and verification of the
appropriateness of the policies,
procedures and models used to measure
the SICR, for the stage allocation and for
determining the ECL, on both a collective
and individual basis.

Special attention was paid to the parties
which adopted and benefitted from
measures in support of the economy in
the wake of the Covid-19 pandemic,
especially debt moratoria;

e  Understanding and verification of the
methods to determine the main
estimation parameters used in the
models for the ECL calculation and the
changes and corrections introduced
during the year. Specifically, we verified
the reasonableness of the estimated
made by the directors when defining the
expected macro-economic scenarios with
specific regard to the adjustments to the
satellite model forecasts used to estimate
the risk parameters such as PD
(Probability of Default) and LGD (Loss
Given Default), with a view to consider
the increased risk in the current context
linked to the Covid-19 pandemic.

Specific tests were performed on the correct
application of the credit conversion
factors for off-balance sheet
commitments and exposures;

e  Verification of the correct application of
the valuation model defined for
performing loans (Stage 1 and Stage 2),
of the completeness and accuracy of the
data bases used in the ECL calculation
and the accuracy of the calculation
formulas of the key estimation
parameters (Probability of Default, Loss
Given Default and Exposure at Default);

e  Verification, on a sample basis, of the
reasonableness of classification among
performing loans (Stage 1 and Stage 2)
and among non-performing loans (Stage
3) based on the available information on
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the debtor’s status and other available
evidence, including from external
sources. With specific regard to non-
performing loans (Stage 3), specific
analyses were conducted in relation to
the assumptions made with reference to
the identification and quantification of
the estimated future cash flows from
recoveries, the measurements of the
collaterals securing those exposures and
the estimated timing of recovery.

For non-performing loans measured on a
collective basis, verification of the correct
determination of the main estimation
parameters within the model used,
together with the completeness and
accuracy of the model input data;

e Examination of the sensitivity analyses
carried out by the directors on the
expected losses recorded at year-end
compared with changes to the expected
macro-economic scenario in the
short/medium term;

e Analysis of the results of the activities
performed by the external auditors of the
subsidiaries;

e  Verification of the completeness and
adequacy of the disclosures provided in
the notes to the accounts by the directors
in accordance with the requirements of
the International Financial Reporting
Standards and the regulatory framework
as well as the communications issued by
the Supervisory Authorities and the
standard setters following the Covid-19
pandemic.

Measurement of financial instruments not
listed in active markets and measured at
fair value on a recurring basis

Notes to the accounts:

Part A — Accounting policies — A.2 Significant
accounting policies and A.4 Information on fair
value

Part B — Notes to the consolidated balance sheet,
Assets, Section 2, Section 3 and Section 5, and
Liabilities, Section 2, Section 3 and Section 4
Part C — Notes to the consolidated profit and loss
account, Section 4, Section 5 and Section 7

In performing our audit, we considered
internal control relevant to financial
reporting in order to define auditing
procedures appropriate to the circumstances.
In detail, to address this key audit matter we
performed the following main activities:
e Analysis of the adequacy of the IT
environment and tests of the operating
effectiveness of relevant controls over the
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Part E — Information on risks and related
hedging policies — 1.2 Market risk

As of 30 June 2021, financial instruments
measured at fair value on a recurring basis with
fair value hierarchy level 2 and level 3 showed a
positive fair value equal to Euro 5,451.4 million,
corresponding to about 6.6 per cent of assets in
the balance sheet and a negative fair value equal
to Euro 6,305.2 million, corresponding to about
7.6 per cent of the total balance sheet liabilities.

Certain types of securities and derivative
instruments are measured using complex
valuation models, acknowledged in prevailing
practice. This practice is fed with inputs and
parameters directly observable and not
observable in the market and estimated internally
based on qualitative and quantitative
assumptions (financial instruments with fair
value hierarchy level 2 and level 3).

This was considered as a key matter for the audit
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
at 30 June 2021 due to the materiality of the
amounts, the number and complexity of the
valuation models used and the significant
estimates and assumptions required. The
valuation models used, besides being numerous
and different in relation to the type of
instruments, require developing specific
qualitative and quantitative assumptions that can
bring significantly different results.

IT systems and software application used
to assess financial instruments;
Understanding and evaluation of the
design of relevant controls over the
monitoring, classification and
measurement of financial instruments
and tests of the operating effectiveness of
those controls;
Understanding and verification of the
appropriateness of the accounting
policies, procedures and valuation
models used by the Group to determine
fair value;
Verification, on a sample basis, of fair
value to analyze the reasonableness of
the qualitative and quantitative
assumptions made and the inputs used.
These analyses were performed with the
support of experts of the PwC network;
Check of the completeness and adequacy
of the disclosures closely connected with
this key audit matter also in relation to
what is provided for in the applicable
accounting standards.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Statutory Audit Committee for the

Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union, as well as with the regulations issued to implement article 9 of Legislative Decree
No. 38/05 and article 43 of Legislative Decree No. 136/15 and, in the terms prescribed by law, for
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and, in
preparing the consolidated financial statements, for the appropriate application of the going concern
basis of accounting, and for disclosing matters related to going concern. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements, the directors use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend
to liquidate the parent company Mediobanca SpA or to cease operations, or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.
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The statutory audit committee (“collegio sindacale”) is responsible for overseeing, in the terms
prescribed by law, the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (ISA Italia) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
consolidated financial statements.

As part of our audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia),
we exercised professional judgement and maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit.
Furthermore:

. We identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error; we designed and performed audit procedures
responsive to those risks; we obtained audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

. We obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control;

. We evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors;

. We concluded on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern;

. We evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation;

. We obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the

entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of

70f9

External auditors' report | 89



_

pwc

the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion on the consolidated
financial statements.

We communicated with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required
by ISA Italia regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified
during our audit.

We also provided those charged with governance with a statement that we complied with the
regulations and standards on ethics and independence applicable under Italian law and communicated
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determined those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We described these matters in our auditor’s report.

Additional Disclosures required by Article 10 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014

On 27 October 2012, the shareholders of Mediobanca SpA in general meeting engaged us to perform
the statutory audit of the Company’s and the consolidated financial statements for the years ending 30
June 2013 to 30 June 2021.

We declare that we did not provide any prohibited non-audit services referred to in article 5,
paragraph 1, of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 and that we remained independent of the Company in
conducting the statutory audit.

We confirm that the opinion on the consolidated financial statements expressed in this report is
consistent with the additional report to the statutory audit committee, in its capacity as audit
committee, prepared pursuant to article 11 of the aforementioned Regulation.

Report on Compliance with other Laws and Regulations

Opinion in accordance with Article 14, paragraph 2, letter e), of Legislative Decree
No. 39/10 and Article 123-bis, paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree No. 58/98

The directors of Mediobanca SpA are responsible for preparing the review of operations and the
statement on corporate governance and ownership structure of the Mediobanca Group as of 30 June
2021, including their consistency with the relevant consolidated financial statements and their
compliance with the law.

We have performed the procedures required under auditing standard (SA Italia) No. 720B in order to
express an opinion on the consistency of the review of operations and of the specific information
included in the statement on corporate governance and<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>